OBSTRUCTION CLASSES FOR MODULI SPACES OF SHEAVES AND LAGRANGIAN FIBRATIONS

DOMINIQUE MATTEI AND REINDER MEINSMA

ABSTRACT. We investigate obstruction classes of moduli spaces of sheaves on K3 surfaces. We extend previous results by Căldăraru, explicitly determining the obstruction class and its order in the Brauer group. Our main theorem establishes a short exact sequence relating the Brauer group of the moduli space to that of the underlying K3 surface. This provides a criterion for when the moduli space is fine, generalizing well-known results for K3 surfaces. Additionally, we explore applications to Ogg–Shafarevich theory for Beauville–Mukai systems. Furthermore, we investigate birational equivalences of Beauville–Mukai systems on elliptic K3 surfaces, presenting a complete characterization of such equivalences.

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	1
Applications	3
Acknowledgements	5
2. Lattices and Brauer groups	5
2.1. Lattices	5
2.2. Lattices of hyperkähler manifolds	7
2.3. Brauer groups of hyperkähler manifolds	8
3. Moduli spaces	9
3.1. Moduli spaces of sheaves on K3 surfaces	9
3.2. The obstruction class of a two-dimensional moduli space	12
3.3. Moduli spaces of lattice-polarised K3 surfaces	13
4. Identifying the obstruction	16
4.1. Brauer groups of moduli spaces	16
4.2. Obstruction classes	18
5. Beauville–Mukai systems	19
5.1. A Donagi–Pantev type result	21
5.2. Birational equivalence of moduli spaces	24
References	27

1. INTRODUCTION

For a K3 surface S with Mukai vector v and polarisation H, one can construct the moduli space $M_H(v)$ of H-Gieseker semistable sheaves with Mukai vector v. It is a hyperkähler manifold of dimension $v^2 + 2$, which is deformation equivalent to a Hilbert scheme of points on a K3

D. MATTEI AND R. MEINSMA

surface, provided H is generic [GH96; OGr97; Huy06; BM14a; BM14b]. These moduli spaces provide some of the most important examples of hyperkähler manifolds, and their geometry is a subject of great interest.

The moduli space $M_H(v)$ is generally a coarse moduli space. That is, there is not always a universal sheaf \mathcal{E} on $S \times M_H(v)$ for which $\mathcal{E}|_{S \times [\mathcal{F}]} \simeq \mathcal{F}$ for all $[\mathcal{F}] \in M_H(v)$. The obstruction to the existence of a universal sheaf is a Brauer class on $M_H(v)$. More precisely, there is a unique Brauer class $\alpha \in Br(M_H(v))$ for which there exists a $(1 \boxtimes \alpha)$ -twisted universal sheaf on $S \times M_H(v)$. This Brauer class is called the *obstruction class* of $M_H(v)$. If we assume $v^2 = 0$, then $M_H(v)$ is a K3 surface, and in this setting the obstruction class was computed explicitly in terms of cohomology by Căldăraru in his PhD thesis [Căl00]. His results showed that there exists a short exact sequence

(1.1)
$$0 \to \langle \alpha \rangle \to \operatorname{Br}(M_H(v)) \to \operatorname{Br}(S) \to 0,$$

and his very precise description of α also tells us the order of α in Br($M_H(v)$). The order of α equals the so-called *divisibility* of the Mukai vector v, which is a number that is easy to compute in practice.

Before we explain our main result, let us briefly note some of the applications of Căldăraru's work. Firstly, since a universal sheaf on $S \times M_H(v)$ exists if and only if the obstruction class α is trivial, it is a direct consequence of (1.1) that $M_H(v)$ is fine if and only if the divisibility of v is 1. This is important partially because of its implications for the derived categories of S and $M_H(v)$. Short exact sequence (1.1) is obtained from the well-known short exact sequence [Muk87, Proposition 6.4]

(1.2)
$$0 \to T(S) \to T(M_H(v)) \to \mathbb{Z}/\operatorname{div}(v)\mathbb{Z} \to 0,$$

which shows that T(S) is Hodge isometric to $T(M_H(v))$ if and only if $M_H(v)$ is a fine moduli space. Recall the Derived Torelli Theorem for K3 surfaces:

Theorem 1.1 (Derived Torelli Theorem). [Muk87; Orl03] Let X and Y be two K3 surfaces. The following are equivalent:

- i) There is an equivalence $\mathcal{D}^b(X) \simeq \mathcal{D}^b(Y)$;
- ii) There is a Hodge isometry $T(X) \simeq T(Y)$;
- iii) The K3 surface Y is isomorphic to a fine moduli space of sheaves on X.

The main goal of this paper is to extend Căldăraru's results about Brauer groups to higherdimensional moduli spaces of sheaves. Our main result is the following theorem. For a K3 surface S, we denote by $N(S) := H^0(S, \mathbb{Z}) \oplus NS(S) \oplus H^4(S, \mathbb{Z})$ the extended Néron-Severi lattice.

Theorem 1.2 (See Theorem 4.5). Let S be a K3 surface, and let $v \in N(S)$ be a Mukai vector of square $v^2 > 0$. Let $H \in NS(S)$ be a generic polarisation on S, and write $M := M_H(v)$. Then there is a short exact sequence

$$0 \to \langle \alpha \rangle \to \operatorname{Br}(M) \to \operatorname{Br}(S) \to 0,$$

where α is the obstruction class for M to be a fine moduli space of sheaves on S. Moreover, the order of α in Br(M) is equal to the divisibility of v in N(S).

Theorem 1.2 should be compared to [KK24, Proposition 6.6], where the obstruction class is computed for four-dimensional moduli spaces of twisted sheaves using a different method which only applies in dimension four.

Theorem 1.2 is completely analogous to (1.1). In particular, it also allows us to easily determine whether a given moduli space is fine or not.

Let us say a few words on the proof of Theorem 1.2. The proof is very closely related to Căldăraru's proof in the case $v^2 = 0$. Some modifications are needed in the higher-dimensional setting. Most notably, short exact sequence (1.2) has no analogue in the higher-dimensional setting, as in this case there is always a Hodge isometry $T(S) \simeq T(M)$. The way to derive (1.1) from (1.2) is by using the fact that $Br(S) \simeq Hom(T(S), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) \simeq T(S)^* \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ for a K3 surface S. However, this is not the case for higher-dimensional moduli spaces of sheaves on S. In this case, there is a certain subgroup $T'(M) \subset T(S)^*$, introduced in [HM23], for which there exists an isomorphism $Br(M) \simeq T'(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$. The quotient $T(S)^*/T'(M)$ is cyclic of order div(v), thus there is a short exact sequence

$$0 \to T'(M) \to T(S)^* \to \mathbb{Z}/\operatorname{div}(v)\mathbb{Z} \to 0,$$

which gives rise to the short exact sequence of Theorem 1.2.

The proof that the kernel of the short exact sequence of Theorem 1.2 is generated by the obstruction class goes via a deformation argument very similar to Căldăraru's argument in the two-dimensional case. However, there are differences between our approach and his in the deformation argument as well. If M is a fine two-dimensional moduli space of sheaves on S, then Mukai's and Orlov's work shows that the Fourier–Mukai equivalence associated to the universal sheaf on $S \times M$ is a Hodge isometry $\tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z}) \simeq \tilde{H}(M,\mathbb{Z})$, where $\tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z})$ denotes the Mukai lattice. If, on the other hand, M has dimension dim M > 2, then such a statement does not hold, but we could achieve the same result using the *Mukai pairing* on $H^*(M,\mathbb{Q})$, which was introduced by Căldăraru in [Cal03], which was later superseded by Căldăraru and Willerton in [CW10].

Applications. Let us now explain some applications of Theorem 1.2. Firstly, one can apply (1.1) in Ogg–Shafarevich theory for elliptic K3 surfaces. For an elliptic K3 surface with a section $S \to \mathbb{P}^1$, one can consider the Tate–Shafarevich group III(S) consisting of elliptic K3 surfaces $X \to \mathbb{P}^1$ with a fixed isomorphism between the Jacobian fibration $J^0(X) \to \mathbb{P}^1$ and $S \to \mathbb{P}^1$. Such elliptic K3 surfaces are called *torsors* of $S \to \mathbb{P}^1$. The Tate–Shafarevich group of an elliptic K3 surface with a section is naturally isomorphic to its Brauer group, with the isomorphism being given by sending a torsor $X \to \mathbb{P}^1$ to the obstruction to the existence of a universal sheaf on the product $X \times S$ by [Căl00, Theorem 4.4.1]. This description of the isomorphism

(1.3)
$$\operatorname{III}(S) \simeq \operatorname{Br}(S)$$

was used for example in [MS24] to study derived equivalences between elliptic K3 surfaces.

Tate-Shafarevich groups were recently generalised to the higher-dimensional case [Mar14; AR23; HM23]. For our applications, we rely on the new theory of Tate-Shafarevich groups introduced in [HM23]. For S a K3 surface, and $\mathcal{C} \to |H|$ a complete, generically smooth linear system with $H^2 = 2g - 2 \ge 0$, we may consider the relative Picard varieties $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d(\mathcal{C}/|H|) :=$ $M_L(0, H, d + 1 - g)$, where $d \in \mathbb{Z}$, and $L \in \operatorname{NS}(S)$ is a generic polarisation. These relative Picard varieties are called *Beauville-Mukai systems*, and we usually denote them by $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d$ to keep notation light. For d = 0, the generic fibre $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}_{\eta}^{0}$ is an abelian variety, and the Tate– Shafarevich group III(S, H), introduced in [HM23], parametrises those torsors of $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}_{\eta}^{0}$ which compactify to moduli spaces of (twisted) sheaves on S.

We prove that, for any $d \in \mathbb{Z}$, there is a short exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z} \to \mathrm{III}(S,H) \to \mathrm{Br}(\overline{\mathrm{Pic}}^a) \to 0$$

where

$$n = \frac{\operatorname{div}(H)}{\operatorname{gcd}(\operatorname{div}(H), d+1-g)}$$

Somewhat surprisingly, the morphism $\operatorname{III}(S, H) \to \operatorname{Br}(\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^0)$ is generally not an isomorphism, but instead has a cyclic kernel of order 2 if the Picard rank of S is 1. This is surprising because it contrasts with the isomorphism (1.3) for elliptic K3 surfaces. On the other hand, we have an isomorphism $\operatorname{III}(S, H) \simeq \operatorname{Br}(\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^{g-1})$. This isomorphism may be seen as a higher-dimensional analogue of (1.3). Indeed, for an elliptic K3 surface $S \to \mathbb{P}^1$ with fibre class $F \in \operatorname{NS}(S)$, we have $\operatorname{III}(S, F) \simeq \operatorname{III}(S)$ by [HM23, §5.1]. In this case, we have $F^2 = 2g - 2 = 0$, hence g - 1 = 0. This means that we have an equality $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^{g-1} = \overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^0$, and $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^0 = \operatorname{J}^0(S)$ by definition. Moreover, since S is an elliptic K3 with a section, we have $\operatorname{J}^0(S) \simeq S$, see [Huy16, §11.4] for details. Thus the isomorphism $\operatorname{III}(S, F) \simeq \operatorname{Br}(\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^{g-1})$ is another incarnation of (1.3).

Moreover, using our explicit computation of the obstruction class of Theorem 1.2, we show that for any $d \in \mathbb{Z}$, the morphism $\operatorname{III}(S, H) \to \operatorname{Br}(\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d)$ maps the class $[\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^1]$ to the obstruction $\alpha_d \in \operatorname{Br}(\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d)$ to the existence of a universal sheaf on $S \times \overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d$. Using this fact, we explain that a result by Addington, Donovan and Meachan [ADM16] should be seen as an analogue to a result by Donagi and Pantev [DP08], see Theorem 5.4 and Theorem 5.5, respectively.

Lastly, we study birational equivalence of moduli spaces of sheaves on elliptic K3 surfaces. From Beckmann's work on derived equivalence for such moduli spaces [Bec22], we derive the following theorem.

Theorem 1.3 (See Theorem 5.13). Let S be an elliptic K3 surface with a section, and let M be a moduli space of sheaves on S of dimension 2n. Then the following are equivalent:

- i) M is a fine moduli space.
- ii) M is birational to the Hilbert scheme $S^{[n]}$.
- iii) M is derived equivalent to the Hilbert scheme $S^{[n]}$.

In particular, if M is a non-fine moduli space of sheaves on S, then M is not derived equivalent to $S^{[n]}$.

The equivalence ii) $\iff iii$) was already noted by Beckmann in [Bec22, §9]. The inclusion of item i) is an application of Theorem 1.2. Theorem 1.3 rules out the possibility of generalising the Derived Torelli Theorem to higher-dimensional hyperkähler manifolds of K3^[n]-type using the transcendental lattice. More precisely, we obtain the following corollary, which gives counterexamples to a question raised in [KK24, Problem 1.1] and in [PR23, Question 2].

Corollary 1.4. There exist moduli spaces of sheaves M and M' on the same K3 surface for which there is a Hodge isometry $T(M) \simeq T(M')$, but which are not derived equivalent.

We also apply our results on birational equivalence for moduli spaces of sheaves to Beauville– Mukai systems. Our main result in this direction is the following theorem, which fully describes birational equivalences of Beauville–Mukai systems in this setting.

Theorem 1.5 (See Theorem 5.16). Let S be an elliptic K3 surface with a section. Let $C \to |H|$ be a generically smooth complete linear system on S, and let $H^2 = 2g - 2 > 0$. The following are equivalent:

- i) $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d$ is birational to $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^e$.
- ii) The obstruction classes of $\overline{\text{Pic}}^d$ and $\overline{\text{Pic}}^e$ have the same order.
- iii) The Mukai vectors of $\overline{\text{Pic}}^d$ and $\overline{\text{Pic}}^e$ have the same divisibility. More precisely, we have gcd(div(H), d+1-g) = gcd(div(H), e+1-g).

The implication $i) \implies ii$ is a general fact about birational moduli spaces [Bec22, Proof of Lemma 9.10]. The equivalence $ii) \iff iii$ is an easy consequence of Theorem 1.2, and the implication $ii) \implies i$ uses our explicit computation of the obstruction class.

Acknowledgements. We warmly thank Mauro Varesco, Giacomo Mezzedimi, Daniel Huybrechts, and Lenny Taelman for helpful discussions and interest in our work. We are also thankful to Evgeny Shinder for many useful comments on an earlier draft of this paper. We would also like to express our gratitude to Nick Addington for incredibly helpful discussions about Lagrangian fibrations. The second author wishes to thank the Hausdorff Center for Mathematics in Bonn for their hospitality and inspiring academic environment during his stay in the final two years of his PhD.

2. LATTICES AND BRAUER GROUPS

2.1. Lattices. Our primary source for lattice theory is [Nik80]. A lattice is a free, finitely generated abelian group L paired with a symmetric non-degenerate bilinear form $b: L \times L \to \mathbb{Z}$. We define the corresponding quadratic form q(x) = b(x, x). We always denote $x \cdot y$ for b(x, y) and x^2 for q(x). We call a lattice L even if x^2 is even for every $x \in L$. For our considerations, all lattices are presumed to be even.

A morphism of lattices between (L, b) and (L', b') is a group homomorphism $f : L \to L'$ that preserves the bilinear forms, i.e., that satisfies b(x, y) = b'(f(x), f(y)) for all $x, y \in L$. A bijective morphism between lattices is called an isometry. The group of isometries $L \simeq L$ is denoted O(L).

A lattice embedding $N \hookrightarrow L$ is a primitive embedding if the quotient L/N is torsion-free. Additionally, a vector $v \in L$ is primitive if $\langle v \rangle \hookrightarrow L$ is a primitive embedding.

Definition 2.1. For any vector $v \in L$, the number

$$\operatorname{div}(v) \coloneqq \operatorname{gcd}_{u \in L} \left(u \cdot v \right)$$

is called the divisibility of v.

The dual of a lattice L is the group $L^* := \text{Hom}(L, \mathbb{Z})$. We can characterise the dual as a subgroup of $L \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ as follows:

(2.1)
$$L^* \simeq \{ x \in L \otimes \mathbb{Q} \mid \forall y \in L : x \cdot y \in \mathbb{Z} \} \subseteq L \otimes \mathbb{Q}.$$

Via this characterisation, L^* acquires a bilinear form taking values in \mathbb{Q} . There is a natural embedding $L \hookrightarrow L^*$ given by

$$\ell \mapsto (\ell \cdot -).$$

The quotient $L^*/L = A_L$ is called the discriminant group of L. If the discriminant group is trivial, we call L unimodular. There is a natural quadratic form $\overline{q} : A_L \to \mathbb{Q}/2\mathbb{Z}$ induced by the quadratic form on L^* . The pair (A_L, \overline{q}) is usually called the discriminant lattice (even though it is a finite group). Any isometry $f : L \simeq L$ induces an isometry of rational quadratic forms $L \otimes \mathbb{Q} \simeq L \otimes \mathbb{Q}$, which induces an isometry of the discriminant lattice $\overline{f} : A_L \simeq A_L$. This gives a natural group homomorphism

$$O(L) \to O(A_L).$$

Note that there is a natural embedding

induced by (2.1). If we denote by $f_{\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}} : L \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \simeq L \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ the isomorphism induced by $f \in O(L)$, then

$$i_L \circ f = f_{\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}}|_{i_L(A_L)}$$

For any primitive sublattice $N \hookrightarrow L$, we denote

$$i_{N,L}: A_N \hookrightarrow N \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \hookrightarrow L \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}.$$

Lemma 2.2. Let L be a unimodular lattice, and let $N \hookrightarrow L$ be a primitive sublattice. Write $T := N^{\perp} \subset L$ for the orthogonal complement. Then, in $L \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$, we have

$$(T \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) \cap (N \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) = i_{T,L}(A_T) = i_{N,L}(A_N).$$

Proof. Suppose $x \in (T \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) \cap (N \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})$. Then there exist $\lambda \in T \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ and $v \in N \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ such that $x \equiv \lambda \pmod{L}$ and $x \equiv v \pmod{L}$. In particular, we have $\lambda - v \equiv 0 \pmod{L}$. For any integral vector $\zeta \in T$, we have $\lambda \cdot \zeta = (\lambda - v) \cdot \zeta \in \mathbb{Z}$, so that $\lambda \in T^{\vee}$. This means that $x \in i_{T,L}(A_T)$. By a similar argument, we have $x \in i_{N,L}(A_N)$. This shows that $(T \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) \cap (N \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})$ is contained in $i_{T,L}(A_T)$ and $i_{N,L}(A_N)$.

The other two inclusions follow from a standard argument, c.f. [Muk87, Proposition 6.4]. We include it here for completeness. Let $\lambda \in i_{T,L}(A_T)$. Since it is clear that $\lambda \in T \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$, we must show that $\lambda \in N \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$. By slight abuse of notation, we also denote by λ any lift to T^{\vee} . Since T is a primitive sublattice of L and L is unimodular, there is a surjective map $L \to T^{\vee}$. That is, there exists a vector $x \in L$ such that $x \cdot \zeta = \lambda \cdot \zeta$ for every $\zeta \in T$. In particular, $x - \lambda$ is orthogonal to T, and thus $v \coloneqq x - \lambda \in N \otimes \mathbb{Q}$. Therefore we have $\lambda + v \in L$, hence $\lambda \equiv -v \pmod{L}$, and we obtain $\lambda \in N \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$. The final remaining inclusion is completely analogous.

Remark 2.3. Lemma 2.2 induces an isomorphism of groups $A_T \simeq i_{T,L}(A_T) = i_{N,L}(A_N) \simeq A_N$, which is an isomorphism of quadratic forms $A_T(-1) \simeq A_N$ [Nik80, Proposition 1.6.1].

Lemma 2.4. [Nik80, Proposition 1.6.1] Let L be a unimodular lattice, let $N \hookrightarrow L$ be a primitive sublattice and write $T := N^{\perp} \subset L$. Suppose $g \in O(N)$ and $h \in O(T)$. Then \overline{g} and \overline{h} induce the same isometry on $i_{N,L}(A_N) = i_{T,L}(A_T)$ if and only if there is an isometry $f : L \simeq L$ preserving N and T, that satisfies $f|_N = g$ and $f|_T = h$.

One lattice which is of particular importance is the so-called *hyperbolic lattice* U, which is the rank 2 lattice given by the symmetric bilinear form

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

This the even unimodular lattice with the lowest rank, which makes it very versatile, see for example the following two lemmas.

Lemma 2.5. [Nik80, Proposition 1.14.1] Let L be a unimodular lattice, and let $N \hookrightarrow L$ be a primitive sublattice. If there exists an embedding $U \subset N^{\perp}$, then for any $g \in O(N)$, there exists an isometry $f : L \simeq L$ such that $f|_N = g$.

Proof. Write $T = N^{\perp}$. By assumption, there is an orthogonal decomposition $T = U \oplus T'$ for some lattice T'. We have $A_T \simeq A_U \oplus A_{T'} \simeq A_{T'}$, since U is unimodular. In particular, $\operatorname{rk}(T) = \operatorname{rk}(T') + 2 \ge \ell(A_{T'}) + 2$. Combined with [Nik80, Theorem 1.14.2], this implies that the homomorphism $O(T) \to O(A_T)$ is surjective. Choose $h \in O(T)$ such that \overline{h} induces the same isomorphism on $i_{T,L}(A_T)$ as g, then by Lemma 2.4 there exists an isometry $L \simeq L$ which restricts to g on N.

Lemma 2.6. [GHS07, Proposition 3.3] Let $L = U \oplus U \oplus L'$ be a lattice containing two copies of the hyperbolic plane. Let $v, u \in L$ be two primitive vectors such that

i)
$$\frac{v}{\operatorname{div}(v)} = \frac{u}{\operatorname{div}(u)} \in A_{L_{2}}$$

ii) $u^{2} = v^{2}$.

Then there is an isometry $f: L \simeq L$ such that $\overline{f} = \mathrm{id}_{A_L}$ and such that f(v) = u.

If $N \hookrightarrow L$ is an embedding of lattices of finite index, then we say that L is an overlattice of N. In this case, there is a sequence of embeddings $N \hookrightarrow L \hookrightarrow L^* \hookrightarrow N^*$, which exhibits L/N as a subgroup of A_N , which is isotropic for the quadratic form on A_N .

2.2. Lattices of hyperkähler manifolds. If S is a complex projective K3 surface, the cup product turns $H^2(S,\mathbb{Z})$ into an even, unimodular lattice isometric to $\Lambda_{K3} = U^{\oplus 3} \oplus E_8(-1)^{\oplus 2}$, where U is the hyperbolic lattice, and E_8 is the unique even, unimodular, positive-definite lattice of rank 8, see for example [BPV12, §VIII.1] for more details.

The lattice $H^2(S,\mathbb{Z})$ carries a natural Hodge structure, which is of K3 type, meaning that it is of weight 2 and $H^{2,0}(S) \simeq \mathbb{C}\sigma$. We call an integral Hodge structure which admits a lattice structure a *Hodge lattice*.

The integral (1, 1)-part of $H^2(S, \mathbb{Z})$ is called the Néron–Severi lattice $NS(S) := H^{1,1}(S, \mathbb{Z})$. The orthogonal complement $T(S) = NS(S)^{\perp} \subseteq H^2(S, \mathbb{Z})$ is called the transcendental lattice. Equivalently, T(S) is the smallest primitive sublattice of $H^2(S, \mathbb{Z})$ such that $T(S)_{\mathbb{C}}$ contains $H^{2,0}(S)$, see for example [Huy16, §3.2.2].

The full integral cohomology group $H^*(S,\mathbb{Z}) = H^0(S,\mathbb{Z}) \oplus H^2(S,\mathbb{Z}) \oplus H^4(S,\mathbb{Z})$, admits a lattice structure given by

$$(r, l, s) \cdot (r', l', s') = l \cdot l' - rs' - sr'.$$

It also inherits a Hodge from $H^2(S,\mathbb{Z})$ and we call the resulting Hodge lattice the Mukai lattice, and denote it by $\tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z})$. We define the extended Néron-Severi lattice of S as the (1,1)-part

D. MATTEI AND R. MEINSMA

of $\tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z})$:

$$\mathcal{N}(S) \coloneqq \tilde{H}^{1,1}(S,\mathbb{Z}) = H^0(S,\mathbb{Z}) \oplus \mathcal{N}\mathcal{S}(S) \oplus H^4(S,\mathbb{Z}).$$

As a lattice, we have $N(S) \simeq NS(S) \oplus U$.

Definition 2.7. [MS24] For a vector $v \in N(S)$, we call the element $a_v := \frac{v}{\operatorname{div}(v)} \in A_{N(S)}$ the Căldăraru class of v. The element $\omega_v \in A_{T(S)}$ corresponding to a_v via the natural isomorphism $A_{T(S)}(-1) \simeq A_{N(S)}$ is called the transcendental Căldăraru class of v.

If X is a complex projective hyperkähler manifold, the second cohomology group $H^2(X, \mathbb{Z})$ also carries a lattice structure, given by the *Beauville–Bogomolov–Fujiki* (*BBF*) form q [Bea83; Bog96; Fuj87]. It is important to note that, unlike in the case for K3 surfaces, $H^2(X, \mathbb{Z})$ is not unimodular if dim(X) > 2 in all the currently known deformation types [Rap08].

Similarly to the case of K3 surfaces, we write $NS(X) \subset H^2(X, \mathbb{Z})$ for $H^{1,1}(X, \mathbb{Z})$, and $T(X) := NS(X)^{\perp}$.

We are mostly interested in hyperkähler manifolds of $K3^{[n]}$ -type, that is, hyperkähler manifolds that are deformation equivalent to the Hilbert scheme of n points on a K3 surface. Assuming $n \ge 2$, we have

$$H^2(X,\mathbb{Z}) \simeq U^{\oplus 3} \oplus E_8(-1)^{\oplus 2} \oplus \langle -2n-2 \rangle.$$

2.3. Brauer groups of hyperkähler manifolds. For basic facts about Brauer groups, we refer to [CS21].

Definition 2.8. An Azumaya algebra \mathcal{A} on a scheme X is a sheaf of \mathcal{O}_X -algebras, which is étale locally isomorphic to the sheaf of matrix algebras $M_{n \times n}(\mathcal{O})$.

We say that two Azumaya algebras \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B} are Br-equivalent if there exist locally free sheaves \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F} on X such that

(2.3)
$$\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{E}nd(\mathcal{E}) \simeq \mathcal{B} \otimes \mathcal{E}nd(\mathcal{F}).$$

The set of isomorphism classes of Azumaya algebras carries a natural group structure given by the tensor product, and Br-equivalence is compatible with this group structure [Gro68, Theorem 5.1].

Definition 2.9. The Brauer group Br(X) of X is the group of Br-equivalence classes of Azumaya algebras of X.

Now, let X be a complex smooth projective variety.

Definition 2.10. The cohomological Brauer Group of X is the group $H^2_{\text{ét}}(X, \mathbb{G}_m)$, or, equivalently, $H^2(X, \mathcal{O}_X^{\times})_{tors}$.

The fact that $H^2_{\text{ét}}(X, \mathbb{G}_m)$ and $H^2(X, \mathcal{O}_X^{\times})_{\text{tors}}$ are isomorphic is a consequence of the fact that $H^2(X, \mathbb{G}_m)$ is torsion, see [Huy16, Remark 18.1.4ii)], combined with the Kummer sequence, see [Huy16, Remark 11.5.13].

It is a result by De Jong and Gabber that the Brauer group is naturally isomorphic to the cohomological Brauer group, see [CS21, §4.2].

Under the additional assumption that $H^3(X, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$, it follows from the exponential sequence that there is an isomorphism

(2.4)
$$\operatorname{Br}(X) \simeq \frac{H^2(X,\mathbb{Z})}{\operatorname{NS}(X)} \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$$

For this reason, as in [HM23], we write

(2.5)
$$T'(X) \coloneqq \frac{H^2(X,\mathbb{Z})}{\mathrm{NS}(X)}.$$

We note that the additional assumption that $H^3(X,\mathbb{Z}) = 0$ is satisfied for hyperkähler manifolds of K3^[n]-type. This follows from [Göt02, Equation (2.1)] and [Mar07, Theorem 1].

There is a well-defined injective group homomorphism $T'(X) \to T(X)^*$ given by

(2.6)
$$[\xi] \mapsto (\xi \cdot -)|_{T(X)}.$$

Since $T(X) \subset H^2(X,\mathbb{Z})$ is a primitive sublattice, the restriction map $H^2(X,\mathbb{Z})^* \to T(X)^*$ is surjective. This means that if $H^2(X,\mathbb{Z})$ is unimodular, i.e. if $H^2(X,\mathbb{Z}) \simeq H^2(X,\mathbb{Z})^*$, then for any element $f \in T(X)^*$, there exists a vector $\xi \in H^2(X,\mathbb{Z})$ such that $f(t) = \xi \cdot t$ for all $t \in T(X)$. In this case, the morphism (2.6) is an isomorphism. Recall that $H^2(S,\mathbb{Z})$ is unimodular if S is a K3 surface, hence the above discussion proves the following well-known lemma.

Lemma 2.11. Let S be a K3 surface. Then there is an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Br}(S) \simeq T(S)^* \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \simeq \operatorname{Hom}(T(S), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}).$$

To summarise, for a K3 surface S, there are natural isomorphisms

(2.7)
$$\operatorname{Br}(S) \simeq H^2_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(S, \mathbb{G}_m) \simeq H^2(S, \mathcal{O}_S^{\times})_{\operatorname{tors}} \simeq T'(S) \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \simeq \operatorname{Hom}(T(S), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}),$$

and we refer to each of these groups as the Brauer group of S.

On the other hand, if X is a hyperkähler manifold of $\mathrm{K3}^{[n]}$ -type, for some $n \geq 2$, then $H^2(X,\mathbb{Z})$ is never unimodular, and generally we have $T'(X) \not\simeq T(X)^*$, and hence the Brauer group of X, which is isomorphic to $T'(X) \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ by (2.4), is generally not isomorphic to $\mathrm{Hom}(T(X),\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})$.

3. Moduli spaces

3.1. Moduli spaces of sheaves on K3 surfaces. In the following, we denote $v(E) = ch(E)\sqrt{td_X}$ for a sheaf $E \in Coh(X)$ on a projective variety X. The following theorem, based on the pioneering work of Mukai [Muk87], is well known and due to many authors [GH96; Huy06; OGr97]. A more general version can be found in [BM14b; BM14a].

Theorem 3.1. Let S be a K3 surface and $v \in H(S, \mathbb{Z})$ a primitive Mukai vector. For H a generic polarization, there exists a (possibly empty) coarse moduli space $M_H(v)$ of H-Gieseker stable coherent sheaves E with v(E) = v. Moreover:

- (1) $M_H(v)$ is empty if $v^2 < -2$,
- (2) if v = (r, D, s) satisfies $v^2 \ge -2$ and either
 - (a) r > 0,
 - (b) r = 0, D effective,
 - (c) r = D = 0, s > 0,

then $M_H(v)$ is a projective hyperkähler manifold of $K3^{[n]}$ -type, where $2n = v^2 + 2$.

D. MATTEI AND R. MEINSMA

Given v as in Theorem 3.1(2), a polarization H such that $M_H(v)$ is smooth is called v-generic. When no confusion is possible, we write M(v) instead of $M_H(v)$. It turns out that two choices H, H' of v-generic polarization give rise to two birationally equivalent moduli spaces $M_H(v)$ and $M_{H'}(v)$ [BM14a, Theorem 1.1].

Let S be a K3 surface and fix a primitive Mukai vector $v \in N(S)$. For a v-generic polarisation H, we write $M = M_H(v)$. Recall that M is a priori only a *coarse* moduli space, meaning that there is not necessarily a universal sheaf on $S \times M$. However, twisted universal sheaves and quasi-universal sheaves always exist, and we recall some basic facts about them now. Our basic reference for twisted sheaves is [Căl00].

Definition 3.2. Let $\alpha_M \in Br(M)$ be some Brauer class. A $(1 \boxtimes \alpha_M)$ -twisted universal sheaf is a $(1 \boxtimes \alpha_M)$ -twisted sheaf \mathcal{U} on $S \times M$ such that $\mathcal{U}|_{S \times [\mathcal{E}]} \simeq \mathcal{E}$ for all $[\mathcal{E}] \in M$. If α_M is trivial, we simply call \mathcal{U} a universal sheaf on $S \times M$. If a $(1 \boxtimes \alpha_M)$ -twisted universal sheaf exists, we call α_M the obstruction to the existence of a universal sheaf.

We will see in Definition/Proposition 3.4 that, unlike universal sheaves, *twisted* universal sheaves always exist. Moreover, the Brauer class α_M is unique, and therefore we call it the *obstruction class*. We state this result in the relative setting, as we will need to be able to deal with families of moduli spaces in the next sections.

Proposition 3.3. [*HL10*] Let $f: S \to T$ be a projective morphism of schemes of finite type over \mathbb{C} with connected fibres. Let $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{S}}(1)$ be a relatively ample line bundle on S. Then for any polynomial P there exists a coarse relative moduli space $\mathcal{M} \coloneqq \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{S}/T}(P) \to T$ for the functor

 $\mathbf{M} \colon (\mathbf{Sch}/\mathbf{T})^{\circ} \to \mathbf{Sets}$

which associates to a T-scheme $X \to T$ the set of isomorphism classes of T-flat families of stable sheaves on the fibres of $S \times_T X \to X$ with Hilbert polynomial P. In particular, for any $t \in T$, we have

 $\mathcal{M}_t \simeq M_{\mathcal{S}_t}(P).$

Definition/Proposition 3.4. [Căl00, Proposition 3.3.2] In the notation of Proposition 3.3, there exists a unique Brauer class $\alpha_{\mathcal{M}} \in Br(\mathcal{M})$ such that there is a $(1 \boxtimes \alpha_{\mathcal{M}})$ -twisted universal sheaf on $\mathcal{S} \times_T \mathcal{M}$. This Brauer class is called the obstruction to the existence of a universal sheaf on $\mathcal{S} \times_T \mathcal{M}$. For any point $t \in T$, this twisted universal sheaf restricts to a $(1 \boxtimes \alpha_t)$ -twisted universal sheaf on $\mathcal{S}_t \times \mathcal{M}_t$, hence α_t is the obstruction to the existence of a universal sheaf on $\mathcal{S}_t \times \mathcal{M}_t$.

The main goal of this paper is to compute the obstruction Brauer class of a moduli space of sheaves on a K3 surface. The first result in this direction is the following.

Proposition 3.5. [*HL10*, Theorem 4.6.5] Let S be a K3 surface with primitive Mukai vector $v \in N(S)$ and v-generic polarisation H. If div(v) = 1, then $M_H(v)$ is a fine moduli space.

Our main theorem implies the converse of Proposition 3.5, c.f. Corollary 4.6.

Now, we fix S, v, H such that $M \coloneqq M_H(v)$ is non-empty and smooth. Moreover, we assume $v^2 \ge 2$ so that the dimension of M is at least 4. We denote by p, resp. q the projection from $S \times M$ to M, resp. to S. Let α_M be the obstruction to the existence of a universal sheaf on $S \times M$, and let \mathcal{E} be a $(1 \boxtimes \alpha_M)$ -twisted universal sheaf. There exists an α_M^{-1} -twisted locally free sheaf \mathcal{F} of finite rank ρ on M by [Căl00, Theorem 1.3.5]. Now $\mathcal{U} \coloneqq \mathcal{E} \otimes p^* \mathcal{F}$ is a quasi-universal

sheaf of similitude ρ on $S \times M$. This means that $\mathcal{E} \otimes p^* \mathcal{F}$ is an *M*-flat untwisted sheaf on $S \times M$ with the property that for any $[F] \in M$, we have $\mathcal{U}|_{S \times [F]} \simeq F^{\oplus \rho}$. We consider the Fourier–Mukai transform

$$\Phi^{\mathcal{U}^{\vee}}: \mathcal{D}^{b}(S) \longrightarrow \mathcal{D}^{b}(M) \\
F \longmapsto Rp_{*}(q^{*}F \otimes \mathcal{U}^{\vee})$$

This Fourier–Mukai transform depends on the choices of \mathcal{E} and \mathcal{F} . However, if \mathcal{U} and \mathcal{V} are two quasi-universal sheaves on $S \times M$, then there exist vector bundles E and F on M such that $\mathcal{U} \otimes p^*E \simeq \mathcal{V} \otimes p^*F$ by [Muk87, Appendix 2].

Definition 3.6. Let S be a K3 surface with primitive Mukai vector $v \in N(S)$ for which $v^2 \ge 2$. Let H be a v-generic polarisation, and write $M := M_H(v)$. Let U be a quasi-universal sheaf on $S \times M$ of similitude ρ . The normalised cohomological Fourier–Mukai transform

$$\varphi \coloneqq \frac{1}{\rho} \varphi^{v(\mathcal{U}^{\vee})} : \quad H^*(S, \mathbb{Q}) \quad \longrightarrow \quad H^*(M, \mathbb{Q})$$
$$x \quad \longmapsto \quad \frac{1}{\rho} p_* \left(q^* x \otimes v(\mathcal{U}^{\vee}) \right),$$

is called the Mukai morphism.

Note that the Mukai morphism is also dependent on the choice of quasi-universal sheaf. More precisely, let F be a vector bundle on M and write $\mathcal{U}' = \mathcal{U} \otimes p^* F$. Let φ' be the Mukai morphism corresponding to \mathcal{U}' , then

$$\varphi'(x) = \frac{\operatorname{ch}(F)}{\operatorname{rk}(F)}\varphi(x).$$

In particular, if we only consider the degree 2 part, we find

$$[\varphi'(x)]_2 = [\varphi(x)]_2 + \frac{c_1(F)}{\mathrm{rk}(F)}[\varphi(x)]_0.$$

Lemma 3.7. [Muk87, Proof of Theorem 1.5], [OGr97] For any $x \in H^*(S, \mathbb{Q})$, we have

$$[\varphi(x)]_0 = -x \cdot v.$$

In particular, whenever $x \in v^{\perp} \subset H^*(S, \mathbb{Q})$, $[\varphi(x)]_2$ is independent of the choice of quasiuniversal sheaf.

Proof. Let $\omega \in H^{2n}(M,\mathbb{Z})$ be the fundamental cocycle. Let $\Phi^{\mathcal{U}^{\vee}} : \mathcal{D}^b(S) \to \mathcal{D}^b(M)$ be the Fourier–Mukai transform with kernel \mathcal{U}^{\vee} , and let $\varphi^{v(\mathcal{U}^{\vee})} : H^*(S,\mathbb{Q}) \to H^*(M,\mathbb{Q})$ be the corresponding cohomological Fourier–Mukai transform, i.e. $\varphi^{v(\mathcal{U}^{\vee})} = \rho \cdot \varphi$. In the notation of [Cal03], it follows that we have

$$[\varphi^{v(\mathcal{U}^{\vee})}(x)]_0 = (\varphi^{v(\mathcal{U}^{\vee})}(x), \omega) = (x, \varphi_L^{v(\mathcal{U}^{\vee})}(\omega)),$$

where $\varphi_L^{v(\mathcal{U}^{\vee})} = \varphi^{v(\mathcal{U})}$ is the left-adjoint of $\varphi^{v(\mathcal{U}^{\vee})}$. On the other hand, we have $\varphi_L^{v(\mathcal{U}^{\vee})}(\omega) = v(\Phi^{\mathcal{U}}(\mathcal{O}_t)) = \rho v$ for any $t \in M$. Hence we obtain $[\varphi(x)]_0 = \frac{1}{\rho}[\varphi^{v(\mathcal{U}^{\vee})}(x)]_0 = \frac{1}{\rho}(x,\rho v) = -x \cdot v$, as claimed.

Theorem 3.8. [OGr97; Yos01] Let S be a K3 surface, and let $v \in N(S)$ be a primitive Mukai vector with $v^2 > 0$. Let H be a v-generic polarisation, and denote $M \coloneqq M_H(v)$. Let φ :

 $H^*(S,\mathbb{Q}) \to H^*(M,\mathbb{Q})$ be the Mukai morphism from Definition 3.6. Then φ induces a Hodge isometry

$$\begin{array}{rccc} H^*(S,\mathbb{Z}) \supset v^{\perp} & \stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} & H^2(M,\mathbb{Z}) \\ & x & \longmapsto & [\varphi(x)]_2. \end{array}$$

Here, $[\varphi(x)]_2$ denotes the degree 2 part of $\varphi(x)$. Moreover, this Hodge isometry is independent of the choice of a quasi-universal sheaf on $S \times M$.

When $v^2 = 0$, M is a K3 surface, and the theorem holds if one replaces v^{\perp} by v^{\perp}/v [Muk87, Theorem 1.5].

3.2. The obstruction class of a two-dimensional moduli space. In this subsection, let S be a K3 surface with Mukai vector $v \in N(S)$. Moreover, we assume that $v^2 = 0$. In this case, the moduli space $M := M_H(v)$ is a K3 surface, where H is a v-generic polarisation. In this setting, Căldăraru computed the obstruction class α_M explicitly as a class in $\text{Hom}(T(M), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) \simeq \text{Br}(M)$. We now give a brief summary of his results.

Recall that the Mukai morphism is a Hodge isometry $v^{\perp}/v \simeq H^2(M,\mathbb{Z})$. Since we have $T(S) \subset v^{\perp} \subset \tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z})$, and $v \notin T(S)$, the Mukai morphism induces an embedding of Hodge lattices $T(S) \hookrightarrow T(M)$. Moreover, the quotient T(M)/T(S) is finite and cyclic. There is a natural embedding $T(M)/T(S) \subset A_{T(S)}$. Via this embedding, T(M)/T(S) is generated by the transcendental Căldăraru class of v, denoted ω_v by [Muk87, Proposition 6.4] (see Definition 2.7). This defines a Brauer class α_M on M as the composition

(3.1)
$$\alpha_M : T(M) \to T(M)/T(S) \simeq \mathbb{Z}/\operatorname{div}(v)\mathbb{Z},$$

where the isomorphism $T(M)/T(S) \simeq \mathbb{Z}/\operatorname{div}(v)\mathbb{Z}$ is the one that maps ω_v to $-\overline{1} \in \mathbb{Z}/\operatorname{div}(v)\mathbb{Z}$.

Theorem 3.9. [Căl00] The Brauer class α_M of equation (3.1) is the obstruction to the existence of a universal sheaf on $S \times M$.

The description of the obstruction Brauer class α_M of Theorem 3.9 is useful because it is so explicit. For example, it is essential in [MS24] to study Fourier–Mukai partners of elliptic K3 surfaces. Unfortunately, the description uses the fact that $Br(M) \simeq Hom(T(M), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})$, which is only the case when M is a K3 surface. Another, equivalent, way to view α_M is as follows.

Consider the short exact sequence

(3.2)
$$0 \to T(S) \to T(M) \to \langle \omega_v \rangle \to 0,$$

which induces the following short exact sequence by taking duals:

(3.3)
$$0 \to T(M)^* \to T(S)^* \to \mathbb{Z}/\operatorname{div}(v)\mathbb{Z} \to 0.$$

Since $v \in \tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z})$ is primitive, and $\tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z})$ is unimodular, it follows that the divisibility of v in $\tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z})$ is 1. That is, there exists a vector $u \in \tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z})$ with the property that $u \cdot v = 1$. We claim that

$$(u \cdot -)|_{T(S)} \in T(S)^*,$$

which is the image of u under the natural surjection $H(S,\mathbb{Z}) \to T(S)^*$, induces a generator of $T(S)^*/T(M)^*$. This is proven in Lemma 4.1 in a more general setting. We abuse notation slightly and write u for $(u \cdot -)|_{T(S)}$. Let us write $w \in T(M)^*$ for the element which maps to $\operatorname{div}(v) \cdot u \in T(S)^*$.

12

Note that taking the tensor product of (3.3) with \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} yields:

(3.4)
$$0 \to \mathbb{Z}/\operatorname{div}(v)\mathbb{Z} \to \operatorname{Br}(M) \to \operatorname{Br}(S) \to 0.$$

The kernel of (3.4) is generated by

$$\frac{w}{\operatorname{div}(v)} \in \operatorname{Br}(M),$$

and this is precisely the obstruction class α_M of Theorem 3.9, see [Căl00] and [MS24].

Note that the order of α_M in Br(M) is equal to the divisibility div(v) of v in N(S). We can see this from short exact sequence (3.4), since the kernel is generated by the obstruction class. We can also use (3.1) to find the order of α_M , since (3.1) exhibits α_M as a surjective group homomorphism $\alpha_M : T(M) \to \mathbb{Z}/\operatorname{div}(v)\mathbb{Z}$.

Corollary 3.10. [Căl00] Let S be a K3 surface with primitive Mukai vector $v \in N(S)$ and v-generic polarisation H. The moduli space $M_H(v)$ is fine if and only if $\operatorname{div}(v) = 1$.

3.3. Moduli spaces of lattice-polarised K3 surfaces. In this section, we collect some basic facts about moduli spaces of lattice polarised K3 surfaces. Our main reference is [Dol95]. An important technical result in this section is Lemma 3.16, which is used to prove the main result of Section 4.2 below.

Definition 3.11. For a lattice T of signature (2, n), we define the period domain Ω_T of T to be one of the two connected components of

(3.5)
$$\{\sigma \in \mathbb{P}(T \otimes \mathbb{C}) \mid \sigma^2 = 0 \text{ and } \sigma \cdot \overline{\sigma} > 0\}$$

The orthogonal group O(T) acts naturally on the set (3.5), and we write

$$O^+(T) := \{ \sigma \in O(T) \mid \sigma(\Omega_T) = \Omega_T \}$$

for the subgroup of O(T) consisting of isometries that preserve the connected component Ω_T . The index of $O^+(T) \subset O(T)$ is two.

Let N be an even lattice of signature $(1, \rho - 1)$ for some $1 \le \rho \le 20$. Suppose that there exists precisely one $O(\Lambda_{K3})$ -orbit of primitive embeddings $N \hookrightarrow \Lambda_{K3}$. This is the case for example when $\rho \le 10$ by [Nik80, Theorem 1.14.4]. An N-marked K3 surface is a pair (S, j) consisting of a K3 surface S and a primitive embedding $j : N \hookrightarrow NS(S)$. An isomorphism of N-marked K3 surfaces (X, i), (Y, j) is an isomorphism $f : X \simeq Y$ such that $i = f^* \circ j$.

A marked K3 surface is a pair (S, ϕ) consisting of a K3 surface S and an isometry ϕ : $H^2(S,\mathbb{Z}) \simeq \Lambda_{K3}$. Fix an embedding $N \subset \Lambda_{K3}$. If (S, ϕ) is a marked K3 surface such that $N \subset \phi(\mathrm{NS}(S))$, then $(S, \phi^{-1}|_N)$ is an N-marked K3 surface.

Let $T = N^{\perp} \subset \Lambda_{\mathrm{K3}}$ be the orthogonal complement. We write

$$\tilde{O}^+(T) \coloneqq \ker \left(O^+(T) \to O(A_T) \right).$$

If (S, j) is a N-marked K3 surface, then there exists a marking $\phi : H^2(S, \mathbb{Z}) \simeq \Lambda_{K3}$ such that the period of the marked K3 surface (S, ϕ) , i.e. $[\phi(H^{2,0}(S, \mathbb{C}))]$, lies in Ω_T . Moreover, two isomorphic N-marked K3 surfaces give rise to periods which lie in the same $\tilde{O}^+(T)$ -orbit.

Definition 3.12. We denote

$$\mathcal{F}_T \coloneqq \tilde{O}^+(T) \setminus \Omega_T.$$

Theorem 3.13. [Dol95, §3] The quotient \mathcal{F}_T is the coarse moduli space of N-marked K3 surfaces. The moduli space \mathcal{F}_T is an equidimensional quasi-projective variety of dimension $20 - \rho$.

Let S be a K3 surface, and let $v \in N(S)$ be a primitive Mukai vector. Write v = (r, E, s) for some $r, s \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $E \in NS(S)$. Let $H \in NS(S)$ be an ample divisor. Let M be the saturation of $\langle H, E \rangle$ in NS(S). That is, $M = (\langle H, E \rangle \otimes \mathbb{Q}) \cap NS(S)$ is the smallest primitive sublattice of NS(S) which contains $\langle H, E \rangle$. Fix any marking $\phi : H^2(S, \mathbb{Z}) \simeq \Lambda_{K3}$. Write $L := \phi(M) \subset \Lambda_{K3}$ and $e = \phi(E)$, $h = \phi(H)$. A point in the moduli space $\mathcal{F}_{L^{\perp}}$ corresponds to an L-marked K3 surface (X, i) for which the vector $(r, i(e), s) \in N(X)$ is a Mukai vector, which we denote by i(v). We wish to show that the locus in $\mathcal{F}_{L^{\perp}}$ of L-marked K3 surfaces (X, i) for which the Mukai vector i(v) has divisibility 1 is dense.

From the definition of the period domain, it follows that we have

$$\Omega_S = \Omega_T \cap \mathbb{P}(S \otimes \mathbb{C}),$$

for any primitive sublattice $S \subset T$. By a slight abuse of notation, we write $\mathcal{F}_S \subset \mathcal{F}_T$ for the image of Ω_S along the natural projection $\Omega_T \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{F}_T$. If we have $\operatorname{rk}(S) + 1 = \operatorname{rk}(T)$, then \mathcal{F}_S is a divisor in \mathcal{F}_T .

Remark 3.14. Fix a primitive sublattice $N \subset \Lambda_{K3}$ of signature $(1, \rho - 1)$ and write $S = N^{\perp}$. For a point $[\ell] \in \Omega_S$, we denote by NS_{ℓ} the integral (1, 1)-part of the Hodge lattice of K3 type whose underlying lattice is Λ_{K3} and whose (2, 0)-part is ℓ . It is a well-known fact that, for a very general point $[\ell]$, we have $NS_{\ell} = N$. To see this, suppose that $[\ell] \in \Omega_N$ satisfies $N \not\subset NS_{\ell}$. Then it follows from the definitions that $[\ell] \in \Omega_{NS_{\ell}^{\perp}} \subset \Omega_S$. Recall that we have $\dim(\Omega_{NS_{\ell}^{\perp}}) = \operatorname{rk}(NS_{\ell}^{\perp}) - 2 < \dim(\Omega_S) = \operatorname{rk}(S) - 2$. Since there are countably many chains of primitive embeddings $N \hookrightarrow L \hookrightarrow \Lambda_{K3}$, it follows that the points of Ω_S for which N is a proper sublattice of NS_{ℓ} form a union of countably many lower-dimensional subvarieties of Ω_S . Thus, the very general point of Ω_S satisfies $N = NS_{\ell}$, as required.

Suppose now that we have another primitive sublattice $L \subset \Lambda_{K3}$ of signature $(1, \rho)$ which is not equal to N as a sublattice of Λ_{K3} , and write $T = L^{\perp}$. By the above discussion, a very general point of Ω_T has $NS_{\ell} = L$. In particular, we have $\Omega_T \neq \Omega_S$. To rephrase this, if N and L are two primitive sublattices of Λ_{K3} , then we have $\Omega_{N^{\perp}} = \Omega_{L^{\perp}}$ if and only if L = N.

Proposition 3.15. Let $L \subset \Lambda_{K3}$ be a sublattice of signature $(1, \rho - 1)$. Assume that $\rho \leq 9$. Suppose that $\{L_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a set of pairwise non-isometric lattices of rank $(1, \rho)$, and for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we have a chain of primitive embeddings $L \hookrightarrow L_n \hookrightarrow \Lambda_{K3}$. Then the set

$$\bigcup_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\mathcal{F}_{L_n^{\perp}}$$

is dense in $\mathcal{F}_{L^{\perp}}$.

Proof. We first show that we have $\mathcal{F}_{L_n^{\perp}} \neq \mathcal{F}_{L_m^{\perp}}$ whenever $m \neq n$. We prove this by contradiction. Suppose that we have $\mathcal{F}_{L_m^{\perp}} = \mathcal{F}_{L_n^{\perp}}$ for some $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$ with $m \neq n$. Then we have

$$\bigcup_{g\in \tilde{O}^+(L^\perp)} g(\Omega_{L_n^\perp}) \cap \Omega_{L_m^\perp} = \Omega_{L_m^\perp}.$$

Note that for any $g \in \tilde{O}^+(L^{\perp})$, the subspace $g(\Omega_{L_n^{\perp}}) \cap \Omega_{L_m^{\perp}}$ has codimension 1 or 0 in $\Omega_{L_m^{\perp}}$. Since $\tilde{O}^+(L^{\perp})$ is countable, this means that there is a $g \in \tilde{O}^+(L^{\perp})$ such that $g(\Omega_{L_n^{\perp}}) \cap \Omega_{L_m^{\perp}}$ has codimension 0, i.e. for which we have $g(\Omega_{L_n^{\perp}}) = \Omega_{L_m^{\perp}}$. Since $g(\Omega_{L_n^{\perp}}) = \Omega_{g(L_n^{\perp})}$, it follows from Remark 3.14 that we have $g(L_n^{\perp}) = L_m^{\perp}$. Since we have $g \in \tilde{O}^+(L^{\perp})$, we may extend g to an isometry $f : \Lambda_{K3} \simeq \Lambda_{K3}$ with $f|_L = \mathrm{id}_L$. Moreover, since $g(L_n^{\perp}) = L_m^{\perp}$, we have $f(L_n) = L_m$, i.e. f restricts to an isometry $L_n \simeq L_m$, which is a contradiction with the assumption that L_n and L_m are non-isometric.

To conclude, we use [MP23, Theorem 3.8]: The Euclidian closure of the union

$$\bigcup_n \mathcal{F}_{L_n^\perp}$$

is contained in a Shimura subvariety of $\mathcal{F}_{L^{\perp}}$. Since all subspaces $\mathcal{F}_{L_n^{\perp}}$ have codimension 1, this Shimura subvariety has to be all of $\mathcal{F}_{L^{\perp}}$.

Lemma 3.16. Let (S, ϕ) be a marked K3 surface. Let $v = (r, E, s) \in N(S)$ be a primitive Mukai vector, and let $H \in S$ be an ample divisor. Write $h = \phi(H)$ and $e = \phi(E)$. Let $L \subset \Lambda_{K3}$ be the saturation of the sublattice $\langle h, e \rangle$. We consider the L-marked K3 surface $(S, \phi^{-1}|_L)$ as an element of the moduli space $\mathcal{F}_{L^{\perp}}$. Then the set of points $[(X, i)] \in \mathcal{F}_{L^{\perp}}$ for which

(3.6)
$$\operatorname{div}_{\mathcal{N}(X)}(i(v)) = 1,$$

where $i(v) \coloneqq (r, i(e), s)$, is dense in $\mathcal{F}_{L^{\perp}}$.

Proof. Let $e = me_0$ with e_0 primitive (in particular, gcd(r, m, s) = 1 since v is primitive). We claim that there exists a vector $u \in \Lambda_{\rm K3}$ such that $u \cdot e_0 = 1$ and the lattice $\langle h, e, u \rangle$ has signature (1,2). Indeed, let $N = U \oplus E_8$. Fix any primitive embedding $L \hookrightarrow N$, which is possible by [Nik80, Corollary 1.12.3]. Since $rk(L) \leq 10$, the primitive embedding $L \hookrightarrow \Lambda_{\rm K3}$ is unique up to the action of $O(\Lambda_{\rm K3})$. Therefore, we may assume that L is a sublattice of $N \subset \Lambda_{\rm K3}$. Since N is unimodular and e_0 is primitive, there exists a vector $u \in N$ such that $e_0 \cdot u = 1$. Now, for any $d \in E_8 \subset N^\perp \subset \Lambda_{\rm K3}$, write $u_d = u + d$, and let $L_d = \langle L, u_d \rangle \subset \Lambda_{\rm K3}$. If d is primitive, then $L_d \subset \Lambda_{\rm K3}$ is a primitive sublattice. Moreover, by computing the discriminant of L_d , we see that L_d is not isometric to $L_{d'}$ whenever $d^2 \neq (d')^2$. Now, for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, let $d_n \in E_8$ be a primitive vector with $d_n^2 = 2n$. Then $\{L_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a set of pairwise non-isometric lattices satisfying the assumptions of Proposition 3.15, and therefore $\cup_n \mathcal{F}_{L_n^{\perp}}$ is dense in $\mathcal{F}_{L^{\perp}}$. Note that for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and any point $[(X, i)] \in \mathcal{F}_{L_n^{\perp}}$, we have $\operatorname{div}_{\mathrm{N}(X)}(i(v)) = 1$, as required.

We now provide a proof for the following proposition, previously noted by Mukai [Muk87] and Căldăraru [Căl00].

Proposition 3.17. Let S be a K3 surface, let $v = (r, E, s) \in N(S)$ be a primitive Mukai vector and let H be a v-generic polarisation. Then there exists a proper, smooth morphism $S \to T$ of schemes of finite type over \mathbb{C} with connected fibres, such that for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}$, and all $t \in T$, we have an identification

(3.7)
$$H^{i}(\mathcal{S}_{t},\mathbb{Z}) \simeq H^{i}(\mathcal{S},\mathbb{Z}).$$

and such that:

i) There exists a point $0 \in T$ such that $S_0 \simeq S$.

D. MATTEI AND R. MEINSMA

- ii) The vector $v_t \in \tilde{H}(\mathcal{S}_t, \mathbb{Z})$ corresponding to v along (3.7) is contained in $N(\mathcal{S}_t)$ for all $t \in T$.
- iii) For all $t \in T$, $H_t \in H^2(\mathcal{S}_t, \mathbb{Z})$ is a v-generic polarisation.
- iv) There exists a point $1 \in T$ such that $\operatorname{div}_{N(\mathcal{S}_1)}(v) = 1$.

Moreover, there is a smooth, proper family $\mathcal{M} \to T$ with the following properties:

- v) For all $t \in T$, there exists an isomorphism $\mathcal{M}_t \simeq M_{H_t}(v_t)$.
- vi) There is a Brauer class $\alpha \in Br(\mathcal{M})$ and a $(1 \boxtimes \alpha)$ -twisted sheaf \mathcal{E} on $\mathcal{S} \times_T \mathcal{M}$ which restricts to a twisted universal sheaf on each fibre $\mathcal{S}_t \times \mathcal{M}_t$.

Proof. Choose any marking $\phi : H^2(S, \mathbb{Z}) \simeq \Lambda_{K3}$ and let $h = \phi(H)$, $e = \phi(E)$, and let L be the saturation of $\langle h, e \rangle$ in Λ_{K3} . Then $(S, \phi^{-1}|_L)$ is an L-marked K3 surface, hence it represents a point $0 \in \mathcal{F}_{L^{\perp}}$. Let $0 \in T \subset \mathcal{F}_{L^{\perp}}$ be a small open neighbourhood, and let $S \to T$ be the tautological family of K3 surfaces. By shrinking T, for example until it is contractible, we may assume that we have the identifications (3.7). Moreover, by shrinking T further, we may assume that H_t is ample, and that H_t is v_t -generic for all $t \in T$ [Bri08]. Note that H_t and v_t are automatically algebraic, since we have $T \subset \mathcal{F}_{L^{\perp}}$. The existence of the relative moduli space $\mathcal{M} \to T$ and the relative twisted universal sheaf follows from Proposition 3.3 and Definition/Proposition 3.4. Part iv) follows from Lemma 3.16.

4. Identifying the obstruction

In this section, we compute the obstruction Brauer class for a higher-dimensional moduli space of sheaves on a K3 surface in terms of the Mukai vector. One of the main points of interest is that we compute the order of the obstruction class precisely.

4.1. Brauer groups of moduli spaces. In this section, let S be a K3 surface with primitive Mukai vector $v \in N(S)$. Assume $v^2 > 0$. Let $H \in NS(S)$ be a v-generic polarisation, and write $M \coloneqq M_H(v)$. The main goal of this subsection is to show that there is an exact sequence resembling (3.4) in this setting. We note that, since the Mukai morphism induces a Hodge isometry $v^{\perp} \simeq H^2(M, \mathbb{Z})$, we have $T(S) \simeq T(M)$, hence there is no short exact sequence of the form (3.2). Instead, the correct first step is to recreate short exact sequence (3.3) using the group

$$T'(M) \coloneqq \frac{H^2(M,\mathbb{Z})}{\mathrm{NS}(M)}$$

from (2.5).

Lemma 4.1. Let S, v, H, and M be as above. Then there is a short exact sequence

(4.1) $0 \to T'(M) \to T(S)^* \to \mathbb{Z}/\operatorname{div}(v)\mathbb{Z} \to 0.$

Let $u \in \tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z})$ such that $u \cdot v \equiv 1 \pmod{\operatorname{div}(v)}$, then the image of u under the projection $H^2(S,\mathbb{Z}) \to T(S)^*$ is a generator for the cokernel.

Proof. The Mukai morphism is a Hodge isometry $H^2(M,\mathbb{Z}) \simeq v^{\perp} \subset \tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z})$ by Theorem 3.8. This induces an embedding of Hodge structures

(4.2)
$$T'(M) \simeq \frac{v^{\perp}}{(v^{\perp})^{1,1}} \hookrightarrow \frac{H(S,\mathbb{Z})}{\mathcal{N}(S)} \simeq T(S)^*.$$

16

It follows from a straightforward computation that the cokernel of this embedding is generated by u: for any class $x \in \tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z})$ such that $x \cdot v = \lambda$, we have $(x - \lambda u) \cdot v \equiv 0 \pmod{\operatorname{div}(v)}$. Therefore, there exists an algebraic class $y \in \mathcal{N}(S)$ such that $y \cdot v = (x - \lambda u) \cdot v$. Therefore, we have $x - \lambda u - y \in v^{\perp}$, hence x and λu induce the same element in $T(S)^*/T'(M)$. Since $\operatorname{div}(v)u - z \in v^{\perp}$ for any $z \in \mathcal{N}(S)$ with $v \cdot z = \operatorname{div}(v)$, we obtain that u has order $\operatorname{div}(v)$ in $T(S)^*/T'(M)$.

Let $w \in T'(M)$ be the vector which maps to $\operatorname{div}(v) \cdot u \in T(S)^*$. Using the description of $\operatorname{Br}(M)$ as $\operatorname{Br}(M) \simeq T'(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ from (2.4), Lemma 4.1 immediately implies the following.

Proposition 4.2. There is a short exact sequence

$$0 \to \left\langle \frac{w}{\operatorname{div}(v)} \right\rangle \to \operatorname{Br}(M) \to \operatorname{Br}(S) \to 0.$$

We will see in the next section that $\frac{w}{\operatorname{div}(v)}$ is precisely the Brauer class of M that obstructs the existence of a universal sheaf on $S \times M$.

The following lemma gives us another way to view the obstruction class in terms of the Mukai morphism.

Lemma 4.3. Let $\varphi : \tilde{H}(S, \mathbb{Q}) \to H^*(M, \mathbb{Q})$ be the Mukai morphism from Definition 3.6. Consider the vector $[\varphi(u)]_2 \in H^2(M, \mathbb{Q})$, where $u \in \tilde{H}(S, \mathbb{Z})$ is as in Lemma 4.1. Then the Brauer class on M induced by $[\varphi(u)]_2$ along the composition

$$H^2(M,\mathbb{Q}) \to T'(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q} \to T'(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \simeq \operatorname{Br}(M)$$

is precisely $\frac{w}{\operatorname{div}(v)}$. Moreover, this is independent of the choice of a quasi-universal sheaf on $S \times M$ and the choice of u.

Proof. The fact that $[\varphi(u)]_2$ induces the Brauer class $\frac{w}{\operatorname{div}(v)}$ is a straightforward chase through the identifications. We check that the Brauer class $[\varphi(u)]_2$ is independent of our choice of quasiuniversal sheaf \mathcal{U} . Recall that if \mathcal{U}' is any other quasi-universal sheaf on $S \times M$, then there exist vector bundles E and F on M such that $\mathcal{U} \otimes p^*E \simeq \mathcal{U}' \otimes p^*F$ by [Muk87, Appendix 2]. For $\mathcal{F} \in \mathbf{Coh}(M)$ we have

$$[\varphi^{\mathcal{U}^{\vee} \otimes p^{*}\mathcal{F}}(u)]_{2} = [\varphi^{\mathcal{U}^{\vee}}(u)]_{2} + [\varphi^{\mathcal{U}^{\vee}}(u)]_{0} \cdot \frac{c_{1}(\mathcal{F})}{\operatorname{rk}\mathcal{F}}$$

Since

$$\frac{c_1(\mathcal{F})}{\operatorname{rk}\mathcal{F}} \in \operatorname{NS}(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q},$$

this shows that the class of $[\varphi(u)]_2$ in $\operatorname{Br}(M) \simeq T'(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ does not depend on the choice of \mathcal{U} .

Now we check that $[\varphi(u)]_2$ is independent of the choice of u. Suppose that we have $u' \in \tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z})$ such that $u \cdot v = u' \cdot v \equiv 1 \pmod{\operatorname{div}(v)}$. Then $(u - u') \cdot v \equiv 0 \pmod{\operatorname{div}(v)}$. Therefore, there is an algebraic class $x \in \tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z})$ such that $x \cdot v = (u - u') \cdot v$. This means that $u - u' - x \in v^{\perp}$. This implies that $[\varphi(u - u' - x)]_2 \in H^2(M,\mathbb{Z})$ is integral, so in particular it vanishes in $\operatorname{Br}(M)$. Since φ is a morphism of Hodge structures, $\varphi(x)$ is algebraic, and we obtain $[\varphi(u)]_2 - [\varphi(u')]_2 = -[\varphi(x)]_2 = 0 \in \operatorname{Br}(M)$. 4.2. **Obstruction classes.** The main goal of this section is to prove Theorem 4.5, which computes the obstruction Brauer class explicitly when M is a higher-dimensional moduli space of sheaves. Our strategy for proving Theorem 4.5 is very similar to the proof of [Căl02, Theorem 1.1], but some modifications need to be made to the proof in our setting. The main idea behind the proof is the following result by Căldăraru.

Theorem 4.4. [Căl02, Theorem 4.1] Let $f: X \to T$ be a proper, smooth morphism of analytic spaces. Let \mathcal{E} be a locally free α -twisted sheaf on X. Assume that $\alpha|_{X_0}$ is trivial, so that $\mathcal{E}_0 := \mathcal{E}|_{X_0}$ can be glued to an untwisted sheaf on X_0 . Assume that for all $t \in T$, we have $H^i(X,\mathbb{Z}) \simeq H^i(X_t,\mathbb{Z})$. Then

$$\alpha = -\frac{c_1(\mathcal{E}_0)}{\operatorname{rk}(\mathcal{E}_0)} \in \frac{H^2(X,\mathbb{Z})}{\operatorname{NS}(X)} \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}.$$

Theorem 4.5. Keeping the notation as in Lemma 4.1 and Proposition 4.2, the Brauer class

$$\frac{w}{\operatorname{div}(v)} \in \operatorname{Br}(M)$$

is the obstruction to the existence of a universal sheaf on $S \times M$.

Proof. We write $v = (r, E, s) \in N(S)$. Let $S \to T$ and $\mathcal{M} \to T$ be the families of K3 surfaces and moduli spaces of Proposition 3.17, and let $\alpha \in Br(\mathcal{M})$ be the Brauer class, and \mathcal{E} the $(1 \boxtimes \alpha)$ -twisted universal sheaf on $S \times_T \mathcal{M}$ from the same token. We identify $S_0 \simeq S$ and $\mathcal{M}_0 \simeq M$.

Pick a locally free α^{-1} -twisted sheaf \mathcal{F} on \mathcal{M} of rank ρ . Fix $\mathcal{U} \coloneqq \mathcal{E} \otimes p^* \mathcal{F}$, which is a relative quasi-universal sheaf on $\mathcal{S} \times_T \mathcal{M}$ of similitude ρ . For $t \in T$, we consider the induced Fourier-Mukai transforms

$$\Phi_t := \Phi^{\mathcal{U}_t^{\vee}} : \mathcal{D}^b(S_t) \to \mathcal{D}^b(M_t)$$

and morphisms of Hodge structures:

$$\varphi_t \coloneqq \varphi^{(1/\rho)v(\mathcal{U}_t^{\vee})} : H^*(S_t, \mathbb{Q}) \to H^*(M_t, \mathbb{Q})$$
$$x \mapsto \frac{1}{\rho} \cdot p_*\left(v(\mathcal{U}_t^{\vee}) \cdot q^*(x)\right)$$

satisfying $v(\Phi_t(-)) = \rho \varphi_t(v(-))$. By shrinking T, we may assume that φ_t is a constant map on t.

Let $u \in H(S,\mathbb{Z})$ be a vector such that $u \cdot v = 1 \pmod{\operatorname{div}(v)}$. Note that the class $[\varphi_0(u)]_2 \in H^2(M,\mathbb{Q})$ induces a Brauer class on M via the natural surjection

$$H^2(M,\mathbb{Q}) \to T'(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q} \to T'(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \simeq \operatorname{Br}(M).$$

By a slight abuse of notation, we also denote this Brauer class by $[\varphi_0(u)]_2$. By Lemma 4.3, we wish to prove that

$$\alpha|_M = [\varphi_0(u)]_2 \in \operatorname{Br}(M).$$

On the fibre over $1 \in T$, the Brauer class α_1 vanishes by Proposition 3.5, so that \mathcal{E}_1 is a universal sheaf. In particular, $\Phi' := \Phi^{\mathcal{E}_1^{\vee}}$ and $\varphi' := \varphi^{v(\mathcal{E}_1^{\vee})}$ are well-defined. For any $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{D}^b(S)$ and $x \in \tilde{H}(S, \mathbb{Q})$, we have $\Phi_1(\mathcal{G}) = \Phi'(\mathcal{G}) \otimes \mathcal{F}_1^{\vee}$ and

(4.3)
$$\varphi_1(x) = \varphi'(x) \frac{\operatorname{ch}(\mathcal{F}_1^{\vee})}{\rho},$$

due to the projection formula. In particular, we have

$$[\varphi_1(u)]_2 = [\varphi'(u)]_2 + [\varphi'(u)]_0 \cdot \frac{-c_1(\mathcal{F}_1)}{\rho}.$$

Since this equation is purely topological, it also holds on the fibre at 0. We know by Theorem 4.4 that

$$\alpha|_M = \frac{c_1(\mathcal{F}_1)}{\rho}$$

(recall that \mathcal{F} is α^{-1} -twisted).

Firstly, note that we have $[\varphi'(u)]_0 = -1$ as a consequence of Lemma 3.7, since we are assuming that $u \cdot v = 1$.

Secondly, we show that $[\varphi'(u)]_2$ is integral. For this, we first show that we can find a line bundle \mathcal{L} on S_1 and choose $u = v(\mathcal{L})$.

Indeed, since the divisibility of v in $N(S_1)$ is 1, we can find a divisor $D \in NS(S_1)$ such that $gcd(r, D \cdot E, s) = 1$. Let $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{O}_{S_1}(D)$. Then $v(\mathcal{L}) = (1, D, \frac{D^2}{2} - 1)$, and we have $v(\mathcal{L}) \cdot v = -r \cdot (\frac{1}{2}D^2 - 1) - s + D \cdot E$. Note that r and s are divisible by $div_{N(S)}(v)$, hence by replacing D by mD for some $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ we obtain $v(\mathcal{L}) \cdot v \equiv 1 \pmod{div_{N(S)}(v)}$.

We now show that, by replacing \mathcal{L} with $\mathcal{L}(k) \coloneqq \mathcal{L} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{S_1}(k)$ for $k \gg 0$, we may assume that $\mathcal{G} \coloneqq \Phi'(\mathcal{L})$ is locally free. It suffices to show that $R^j p_*(q^*\mathcal{L}(k) \otimes \mathcal{E}_1^{\vee}) = 0$ for all j > 0 and $k \gg 0$. For any point $[\mathcal{K}] \in M_1$, we have natural maps

$$R^{j}p_{*}(q^{*}\mathcal{L}(k)\otimes \mathcal{E}_{1}^{\vee})_{[\mathcal{K}]} \to H^{j}(S_{1},\mathcal{K}\otimes \mathcal{L}(k)).$$

By boundedness of M_1 , all these cohomology groups vanish for all $[\mathcal{K}] \in M_1$, j > 0 and $k \gg 0$, which in turn implies that the $R^j p_*(q^*\mathcal{L}(k) \otimes \mathcal{E}_1^{\vee})_{[\mathcal{K}]}$ vanish as well.

Note that this completes the proof, since we have

$$[\varphi'(u)]_2 = [v(\mathcal{G})]_2 = [c_1(\mathcal{G})] \in H^2(M_1, \mathbb{Z}).$$

Corollary 4.6. Let S be a K3 surface and let $v \in N(S)$ be a Mukai vector with $v^2 > 0$. Let H be a v-generic polarisation of S. Then the moduli space $M_H(v)$ is fine if and only if $\operatorname{div}(v) = 1$.

For isotropic Mukai vectors, the conclusion of Corollary 4.6 follows immediately from the work of Căldăraru [Căl00], but it also follows directly from the Derived Torelli Theorem 1.1. In the higher-dimensional case, the fact that $M_H(v)$ is fine whenever $\operatorname{div}(v) = 1$ was already known, c.f. Proposition 3.5. The new part of Corollary 4.6 is that the divisibility of the Mukai vector is 1 for higher-dimensional fine moduli spaces.

5. BEAUVILLE-MUKAI SYSTEMS

Let S be a K3 surface, and let $H \subset S$ be a smooth, irreducible curve of genus g > 0, whose class in NS(S) is primitive. Let $\mathcal{C} \to |H|$ be the universal curve over the linear system |H|. This means that, for any $[C] = x \in |H|$, there is an isomorphism $\mathcal{C}_x \simeq C$. For $d \in \mathbb{Z}$, consider the Mukai vector

(5.1)
$$v_d \coloneqq (0, H, d+1-g).$$

For a v_d -generic polarisation $H' \in NS(S)$, we write $M_d = M_{H'}(v_d)$. Note that a line bundle L of degree d on a smooth, irreducible curve $C \in |H|$ satisfies

$$v(i_*L) = (0, H, d+1-g),$$

where $i: C \hookrightarrow S$ is the inclusion. Therefore, we have an inclusion

J

$$\operatorname{Pic}^{d}(\mathcal{C}_{\mathrm{sm}}/|H|_{\mathrm{sm}}) \hookrightarrow M_{d},$$

where $C_{\rm sm} \to |H|_{\rm sm}$ is the restriction of the universal curve to the locus of smooth curves in |H|. For this reason, we usually denote

$$\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^{a}(\mathcal{C}/|H|) \coloneqq M_{d}.$$

To keep the notation light, we often omit $\mathcal{C}/|H|$ from the notation if this cannot lead to confusion. Note that, since H is primitive in NS(S), the Mukai vector $v_d \in N(S)$ is primitive for all $d \in \mathbb{Z}$. Hence, by Theorem 3.1, $\overline{\text{Pic}}^d$ is a smooth hyperkähler manifold of K3^[g]-type.

Note that there is a natural morphism

$$\begin{array}{rccc} f: & \overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d & \longrightarrow & |H| \\ & & [\mathcal{F}] & \longmapsto & \operatorname{Supp}(\mathcal{F}), \end{array}$$

which is a Lagrangian fibration. Moreover, for a smooth curve $C \in |H|$, the fibre of f over C is isomorphic to $\operatorname{Pic}^{d}(C)$.

Letting $\eta \in |H|$ be the generic point, the generic fibre $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}_{\eta}^{0}$ is an abelian variety over $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{C}(\eta))$, and for any $d \in \mathbb{Z}$, the generic fibre $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}_{\eta}^{d}$ is a torsor under $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}_{\eta}^{0}$.

Define $\zeta_H : A_{\mathrm{NS}(S)} \to \mathbb{Z}/\operatorname{div}(H)\mathbb{Z}$ by

$$\zeta_H(\overline{a}) = a \cdot H \pmod{\operatorname{div}(H)},$$

where \overline{a} denotes the image of $a \in \mathrm{NS}(S)^*$ in $A_{\mathrm{NS}(S)}$. We note that this map is well-defined, since for any $a' \in \mathrm{NS}(S)^*$ such that $\overline{a'} = \overline{a}$, there exists a class $x \in \mathrm{NS}(S)$ such that a' + x = a, hence $a \cdot H = (a' + x) \cdot H = a' \cdot H \pmod{\operatorname{div}(H)}$. Recall from Lemma 2.2 that we may view $A_{T(S)} \simeq A_{\mathrm{NS}(S)}(-1)$ as a subgroup of $T(S) \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ via the inclusion $T(S)^* \hookrightarrow T(S) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$.

Definition 5.1. [HM23] The Tate–Shafarevich group of the pair (S, H) is the group

$$\mathrm{III}(S,H) \coloneqq \frac{T(S) \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}}{\ker(\zeta_H)}$$

The reason $\operatorname{III}(S, H)$ is called the Tate–Shafarevich group is that it parametrises certain torsors of the abelian variety $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}_{\eta}^{0}$. It generalises the Tate–Shafarevich group of an elliptic K3 surface. More precisely, if $S \to \mathbb{P}^{1}$ is an elliptic K3 surface that admits a section, and $F \in \operatorname{NS}(S)$ denotes the fibre class of the elliptic fibration, then there is an isomorphism $\operatorname{III}(S, F) \simeq \operatorname{III}(S)$ [HM23, §5.1].

For any $d \in \mathbb{Z}$, the Beauville–Mukai system $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d \to |H|$ defines an element of $\operatorname{III}(S, H)$. For details, we refer to [HM23, Example 4.14]. The element of $\operatorname{III}(S, H)$ corresponding to $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d$ is the element induced by

(5.2)
$$\frac{-d}{\operatorname{div}(D)} \cdot D \in A_{\operatorname{NS}(S)} \subset T(S) \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z},$$

where $D \in \mathrm{NS}(S)$ is a divisor with $\operatorname{div}(D) = D \cdot H$. Such a divisor exists and can be constructed as follows. Let $u \in H^2(S, \mathbb{Z})$ be a class that satisfies $u \cdot H = 1$. This class exists since H is primitive and $H^2(S, \mathbb{Z})$ is unimodular. Also by unimodularity, there exists a divisor $D \in \mathrm{NS}(S)$, and an integer $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $u \cdot E = \frac{D}{m} \cdot E$ for all $E \in \mathrm{NS}(S)$. Moreover, we have $\frac{D}{m} \in \mathrm{NS}(S)^*$, since u is an integral vector, hence $m \leq \operatorname{div}(D)$. On the other hand, from $\frac{D}{m} \cdot H = 1$, it follows that we have $m = D \cdot H$, hence $m \geq \operatorname{div}(D)$, and we find $m = \operatorname{div}(D)$.

Remark 5.2. Let us briefly explain our choice of D above. For simplicity, assume d = 1. In the notation of [HM23], for any vector bundle \mathcal{E} on S of rank r and determinant L, there exists an isomorphism

$$\begin{array}{rcl} \operatorname{Pic}^1 & \stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} & \operatorname{Pic}_{\mathcal{E}nd(\mathcal{E})}^{d'} \\ F & \longmapsto & F \otimes \mathcal{E} \end{array}$$

where $d' = 1 + L \cdot H/r$. Moreover, the class $[\mathcal{E}nd(\mathcal{E})] \in \text{SBr}(S)$ corresponds to the class $(1/r) \cdot L \in \text{NS}(S) \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$. Therefore, for any divisor $D \in \text{NS}(S)$, one can pick L = -D and $r = D \cdot H$ to get an isomorphism $\text{Pic}^d \simeq \text{Pic}^0_{\mathcal{E}nd(\mathcal{E})}$. However, $\mathcal{E}nd(\mathcal{E})$ only defines a class in III(S, H) if $[\mathcal{E}nd(\mathcal{E})]$ lies in the image of $A_{\text{NS}(S)} \subset \text{NS}(S) \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$, i.e. if $(-1/D \cdot H) \in \mathbb{Z}[1/\text{div}(D)]$, equivalently $D \cdot H = \text{div}(D)$.

For now, let us note that $[\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^1]$ corresponds to the image of $u \in H^2(S, \mathbb{Z})$ along the composition

$$H^2(S,\mathbb{Z}) \to T(S)^* \to T(S) \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}.$$

Remark 5.3. The element (5.2), corresponding to $[\overline{\text{Pic}}^d] \in \text{III}(S, H)$, is trivial if and only if d is a multiple of div(H). Indeed, since $\text{div}(D) = D \cdot H = k \operatorname{div}(H)$ for some k, we have

$$\zeta_H\left(\frac{-dD}{\operatorname{div}(D)}\right) = \frac{-d\operatorname{div}(D)}{\operatorname{div}(D)} = -\overline{d} \in \mathbb{Z}/\operatorname{div}(H)\mathbb{Z}.$$

This means that $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}_{\eta}^{d}$ and $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}_{\eta}^{e}$ are isomorphic $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}_{\eta}^{0}$ -torsors if and only if $d-e \equiv 0 \pmod{\operatorname{div}(H)}$. Notice that, in particular, $[\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^{1}] = [-D/\operatorname{div}(D)]$ has order $\operatorname{div}(H)$.

5.1. A Donagi–Pantev type result. Recall the following result by Addington, Donovan, and Meachan:

Theorem 5.4. [ADM16] Let S be a K3 surface with $NS(S) = \langle H \rangle$, where H is ample. Then for any $d, e \in \mathbb{Z}$, there is an equivalence

$$\mathcal{D}^b(\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d, \alpha_d^e) \simeq \mathcal{D}^b(\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^e, \alpha_e^{-d}).$$

The main goal of this subsection is to exhibit this result as a higher-dimensional generalisation of a result by Donagi and Pantev of [DP08]. This is done by Corollary 5.9 below. The statement and proof of Corollary 5.9 heavily rely on our explicit computation of the obstruction class in Theorem 4.5.

5.1.1. Twisted derived equivalences of elliptic K3 surfaces. First, we briefly recall the results of Donagi and Pantev. Their results hold more generally for elliptic surfaces $S \to \mathbb{P}^1$ whose fibres have at worst I_1 -singularities, but we restrict our attention to elliptic K3 surfaces. Let $S \to \mathbb{P}^1$ be an elliptic K3 surface which admits a section. Recall that the Tate–Shafarevich group $\mathrm{III}(S)$

of S parametrises pairs $(X \to \mathbb{P}^1, \phi)$, where $X \to \mathbb{P}^1$ is an elliptic K3 surface, and $\phi : J^0(X) \simeq S$ is an isomorphism over \mathbb{P}^1 which preserves the chosen sections, see [Huy16, §11.5] for details. Elements of III(S) are called S-torsors. Moreover, there is a canonical isomorphism

(5.3)
$$\operatorname{III}(S) \simeq \operatorname{Br}(S).$$

This isomorphism can be understood as follows. Suppose $(X \to \mathbb{P}^1, \phi)$ is an S-torsor. Then ϕ exhibits S as a coarse moduli space of sheaves on X, hence there is a unique Brauer class $\alpha_X \in Br(S)$ which is the obstruction to the existence of a universal sheaf on $X \times S$ by Definition/Proposition 3.4. The isomorphism (5.3) is given by

$$\begin{aligned} & \mathrm{III}(S) & \longrightarrow & \mathrm{Br}(S) \\ & (X \to \mathbb{P}^1, \phi) & \longmapsto & \alpha_X \end{aligned}$$

Moreover, short exact sequence (3.4) takes the following form in this setting:

 $0 \to \langle \alpha_X \rangle \to \operatorname{Br}(S) \to \operatorname{Br}(X) \to 0,$

and via (5.3), this sequence may be interpreted as the sequence

(5.4)
$$0 \to \langle [(X \to \mathbb{P}^1, \phi)] \rangle \to \mathrm{III}(S) \to \mathrm{Br}(X) \to 0.$$

Let $(Y \to \mathbb{P}^1, \psi) \in \mathrm{III}(S)$ be another S-torsor, and denote by $\overline{\alpha_Y} \in \mathrm{Br}(X)$ the image of $[(Y \to \mathbb{P}^1, \psi)] \in \mathrm{Br}(S)$ in $\mathrm{Br}(X)$. Similarly, we denote by $\overline{\alpha_X} \in \mathrm{Br}(Y)$ the image of α_X .

Theorem 5.5. [DP08] Keeping the notation as above, there is an equivalence

$$\mathcal{D}^b(X, \overline{\alpha_Y}) \simeq \mathcal{D}^b(Y, \overline{\alpha_X}^{-1})$$

5.1.2. Tate-Shafarevich groups of Beauville-Mukai systems. We now turn our attention back to Beauville-Mukai systems. Let S be a K3 surface. For M a smooth moduli space of sheaves on S, recall that there is a natural chain of inclusions $T(S) \hookrightarrow T'(M) \hookrightarrow T(S)^*$. We denote A := T'(M)/T(S), and consider it as a subgroup of $A_{T(S)} \simeq T(S)^*/T(S)$. Using this, we obtain the short exact sequence

(5.5)
$$0 \to A \to T(S) \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \to T'(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \to 0,$$

where A is embedded in $T(S) \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ using the inclusion $A \subset A_{T(S)} \hookrightarrow T(S) \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$.

Proposition 5.6. Let S be a K3 surface, and let $H \subset S$ be a smooth, irreducible curve whose class in NS(S) is primitive, and such that $H^2 = 2g - 2 \ge 2$. If we take $M = \overline{\text{Pic}}^d$ in short exact sequence (5.5), we obtain the short exact sequence:

(5.6)
$$0 \to \frac{A}{\ker(\zeta_H)} \to \operatorname{III}(S, H) \to \operatorname{Br}(\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d) \to 0.$$

Moreover, the kernel is cyclic of order

$$\frac{\operatorname{div}(H)}{\operatorname{div}(v_d)} = \frac{\operatorname{div}(H)}{\operatorname{gcd}(\operatorname{div}(H), d+1-g)}$$

Here, v_d is the Mukai vector of $\overline{\text{Pic}}^d$, see (5.1).

Proof. Recall from the previous section that we have

$$\operatorname{Im}(T'(\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d) \hookrightarrow T(S)^*) = \{a \in T(S)^* \mid a \cdot v_d \in \operatorname{div}(v_d)\mathbb{Z}\}$$

This implies that $\ker(\zeta_H) \subset A$, hence short exact sequence (5.6) is obtained from (5.5) by taking the quotient with $\ker(\zeta_H)$ and using the third isomorphism theorem. Choose any $a \in A$ such that $a \cdot v_d = \operatorname{div}(v_d)$. We claim that a generates $A/\ker(\zeta_H)$. Let $b \in A$ be any other element, then we can write $b \cdot H = \operatorname{div}(v_d) \cdot k$ for some $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. Since $ka - b \in A$ satisfies (ka - b)(H) = 0, it follows that ka = b in $A/\ker(\zeta_H)$. This shows that a generates $A/\ker(\zeta_H)$. Moreover, the order of a is precisely $\operatorname{div}(H)/\operatorname{div}(v_d)$.

Corollary 5.7. In the notation of Proposition 5.6, we have an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{III}(S,H) \simeq \operatorname{Br}(\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^{g-1}).$$

Proof. Since $v_{g-1} = (0, H, 0)$ it follows that $\operatorname{div}(v_{g-1}) = \operatorname{div}(H)$, and now the statement follows from Proposition 5.6.

Corollary 5.7 is slightly surprising. One might have expected an isomorphism between $\operatorname{III}(S, H)$ and $\operatorname{Br}(\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^0)$, as is the case when $H^2 = 0$. Instead, if the Picard rank of S is 1, we have a short exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z} \to \mathrm{III}(S,H) \to \mathrm{Br}(\overline{\mathrm{Pic}}^0) \to 0$$

by Proposition 5.6. Note, however, that if $H^2 = 0$, we have g = 1, so that $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^0 = \overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^{g-1}$. Therefore, Corollary 5.7 is a generalisation of the well-known isomorphism $\operatorname{III}(S) \simeq \operatorname{Br}(S)$ for an elliptic K3 surface S with a section.

Since we have, for any $d \in \mathbb{Z}$, a surjective group homomorphism $\operatorname{III}(S, H) \to \operatorname{Br}(\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d)$, it is an important question what the preimages of the obstruction class are. We answer this question in the following proposition, using Theorem 4.5.

Proposition 5.8. For any $d \in \mathbb{Z}$, the group homomorphism $\operatorname{III}(S, H) \to \operatorname{Br}(\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d)$ of Proposition 5.6 satisfies

$$[\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^1] \mapsto \alpha_d,$$

where $\alpha_d \in \operatorname{Br}(\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d)$ is the obstruction to the existence of a universal sheaf on $S \times \overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d$.

Proof. Recall that the element $[\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^1] \in \operatorname{III}(S, H)$ is the image of the element

$$\overline{u} \in T(S) \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z},$$

where $u \in H^2(S,\mathbb{Z})$ is a class with $u \cdot H = 1$. We show that the image of \overline{u} in $Br(\overline{Pic}^d)$ is precisely the obstruction class. Consider the chain of surjections

$$T(S) \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \twoheadrightarrow T'(\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^{d}) \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \twoheadrightarrow T(S)^{*} \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}.$$
$$\simeq \operatorname{Br}(\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^{d}) \simeq \operatorname{Br}(S)$$

Since $\overline{u} \in T(S)^*$, it follows that the image of \overline{u} in $\operatorname{Br}(\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d)$ is in the kernel of the map $\operatorname{Br}(\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d) \to \operatorname{Br}(S)$, which is generated by α_d . From $u \cdot v_d = 1$, it follows that \overline{u} maps to α_d by Theorem 4.5.

We can now see how Theorem 5.4 resembles Theorem 5.5.

Corollary 5.9. Let S be a K3 surface of Picard rank 1. Let $H \in NS(S)$ be an ample generator, and let $d, e \in \mathbb{Z}$. Denote by $\overline{\alpha_d} \in Br(\overline{Pic}^e)$, resp. $\overline{\alpha_e} \in Br(\overline{Pic}^d)$ the images of $[\overline{Pic}^d]$, resp. $[\overline{Pic}^e]$ in $Br(\overline{Pic}^e)$, resp. $Br(\overline{Pic}^d)$. Then there is an equivalence

$$\mathcal{D}^b(\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d, \overline{\alpha_e}) \simeq \mathcal{D}^b(\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^e, \overline{\alpha_d}^{-1}).$$

Proof. By Proposition 5.8, we have $\overline{\alpha_d} = \alpha_e^d \in \operatorname{Br}(\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^e)$, and $\overline{\alpha_e} = \alpha_d^e \in \operatorname{Br}(\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d)$. Combining this with Theorem 5.4 proves the result.

It is an interesting open question whether Corollary 5.9 holds more generally. For example, when we consider the twisted Picard varieties of [HM23], or when we drop the assumption that $\rho = 1$.

5.2. Birational equivalence of moduli spaces. In this subsection, we study birational equivalences of moduli spaces of sheaves on elliptic K3 surfaces with a section. More specifically, we study the birational geometry of Beauville–Mukai systems on such K3 surfaces. Theorem 5.16 below fully classifies which Beauville–Mukai systems over elliptic K3 surfaces are birational. This classification uses our explicit computation of the obstruction class.

It is a well-known fact that a K3 surface S admits an elliptic fibration with a section if and only if there is an isotropic class $F \in NS(S)$ of divisibility 1, see for example [Huy16, Remark 3.2.13 and §11.4]. This is equivalent to the existence of an embedding $U \subset NS(S)$. In this case, the lattice $N(S) \simeq NS(S) \oplus U$ admits an embedding $U^{\oplus 2} \subset N(S)$, so that we may apply Lemma 2.6 to N(S).

The main result about the birational geometry of $M_H(v)$ is the Markman's Birational Torelli Theorem. We write $\tilde{\Lambda} := U \oplus \Lambda_{K3} = U^{\oplus 4} \oplus E_8(-1)^{\oplus 2}$. Note that, as an abstract lattice, $\tilde{\Lambda}$ is isometric to the Mukai lattice of any K3 surface. For any hyperkähler variety of K3^[n]-type, there is a natural $O(\tilde{\Lambda})$ -orbit i_X of embeddings $H^2(X, \mathbb{Z}) \hookrightarrow \tilde{\Lambda}$ [Mar11].

Theorem 5.10 (Birational Torelli Theorem). [Mar11, Corollary 9.9] Let X and Y be hyperkähler varieties of $K3^{[n]}$ -type. The following are equivalent:

- i) X and Y are birational,
- ii) There is a Hodge isometry $H^2(X,\mathbb{Z}) \simeq H^2(Y,\mathbb{Z})$ making the following diagram commute:



where the vertical arrows are embeddings contained in the orbits i_X and i_Y , respectively.

If $M = M_H(v)$ is a moduli space of sheaves on a K3 surface S, then the orbit of embeddings $H^2(M,\mathbb{Z}) \hookrightarrow \tilde{\Lambda}$ is the one containing the following embedding:

(5.7)
$$H^2(M,\mathbb{Z}) \simeq v^{\perp} \hookrightarrow \tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z}) \simeq \tilde{\Lambda}.$$

Here, the first isometry is the Mukai morphism of Theorem 3.8, and the isometry $\tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z}) \simeq \tilde{\Lambda}$ is arbitrary. Note that the $O(\tilde{\Lambda})$ -orbit of the embedding (5.7) is independent of the choice of isometry $\tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z}) \simeq \tilde{\Lambda}$.

Let S be a K3 surface. Recall from Definition 2.7 that for a vector $v \in N(S)$, we call the element $a_v := \frac{v}{\operatorname{div}(v)} \in A_{N(S)}$ the Căldăraru class of v, and that the element $\omega_v \in A_{T(S)}$ corresponding to a_v via the natural isomorphism $A_{N(S)} \simeq A_{T(S)}(-1)$ is called the transcendental Căldăraru class of v.

Proposition 5.11. Let S be a K3 surface for which there exists an embedding $U \subset NS(S)$. Let $u, v \in N(S)$ be primitive Mukai vectors with $u^2 = v^2 = 2n - 2$, n > 1. Then the moduli spaces M(u) and M(v) are birational if and only if there is a Hodge isometry $\psi : T(S) \simeq T(S)$ such that $\overline{\psi}(\omega_v) = \omega_u$.

Proof. Suppose M(u) and M(v) are birational. Then by the Birational Torelli Theorem, there is a commutative diagram of Hodge isometries:

Denote $\phi \coloneqq \Phi|_{\mathcal{N}(S)} : \mathcal{N}(S) \simeq \mathcal{N}(S)$ and $\psi \coloneqq \Phi|_{T(S)} : T(S) \simeq T(S)$, and note that ψ is a Hodge isometry. Then $\phi(v) = \pm u$. Possibly replacing Φ by $-\Phi$, we may assume $\phi(v) = u$. We have $\overline{\phi}(a_v) = a_u$, hence $\overline{\psi}(\omega_v) = \omega_u$ by Lemma 2.4.

Conversely, suppose $\psi: T(S) \to T(S)$ is a Hodge isometry which satisfies $\overline{\psi}(\omega_v) = \omega_u$. Since $T(S)^{\perp} = \mathcal{N}(S)$, we may apply Lemma 2.5, and extend ψ to a Hodge isometry $\Psi: \tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z}) \to \tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z})$. Denote $\phi := \Psi|_{\mathcal{N}(S)}: \mathcal{N}(S) \simeq \mathcal{N}(S)$. Since $\overline{\psi}(\omega_v) = \omega_u$, we have $a_{\phi(v)} = \overline{\phi}(a_v) = a_u$. By Lemma 2.6, there is an isometry $\iota: \mathcal{N}(S) \simeq \mathcal{N}(S)$ which maps $\phi(v)$ to u and which acts trivially on $A_{\mathcal{N}(S)}$. In particular, we can extend ι , by the identity on T(S), to a Hodge isometry $\Gamma: \tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z}) \simeq \tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z})$. Now $\Gamma \circ \Psi$ is a Hodge isometry of $\tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z})$ which maps v to u, and this implies by the Birational Torelli Theorem that M(v) and M(u) are birational.

Proposition 5.12. Let S be a K3 surface for which there exists an embedding $U \subset NS(S)$. If M is a fine(!) 2n-dimensional moduli space of sheaves with Mukai vector $v \in N(S)$, then M is birational to $S^{[n]}$.

Proof. If n = 1, then M is a Fourier–Mukai partner of S by the Derived Torelli Theorem [Muk87; Orl03]. However, since $U \subset NS(S)$, S does not have any non-trivial Fourier–Mukai partners by [Hos+02, Corollary 2.7(3)]. Therefore, we have $M \simeq S$, as required.

Now assume $n \ge 2$. By Theorem 4.5, we have $\operatorname{div}(v) = 1$. In particular, the Căldăraru class of v is

$$a_v = \frac{v}{\operatorname{div}(v)} = v = 0 \in A_{\mathcal{N}(S)}.$$

If $u \in N(S)$ is any other Mukai vector with $u^2 = 2n - 2$ and $\operatorname{div}(u) = 1$, then $a_u = 0$ as well, hence M is birational to M(u) by Proposition 5.11. If we let u = (1, 0, 1 - n), then $M(u) \simeq S^{[n]}$, hence M is birational to $S^{[n]}$.

Combining Proposition 5.12 with [Bec22, Corollary 9.9] yields the following interesting result, which provides examples of hyperkähler manifolds of $K3^{[n]}$ -type with Hodge isometric transcendental lattices, but which are not derived equivalent. These are counterexamples to a question raised in [KK24, Problem 1.1], and a similar question raised in [PR23, Question 2].

Theorem 5.13. [Bec22] Let S be a K3 surface for which there exists an embedding $U \subset NS(S)$. Let $M = M_H(v)$ be a moduli space of sheaves on S of dimension 2n > 2. Then the following are equivalent.

- i) M is a fine moduli space.
- ii) M is birational to the Hilbert scheme $S^{[n]}$.
- iii) M is derived equivalent to the Hilbert scheme $S^{[n]}$.

In particular, if M is a non-fine moduli space of sheaves, then M is not derived equivalent to $S^{[n]}$.

The equivalence ii) $\iff iii$) in Theorem 5.13 was already noted by Beckmann in [Bec22]. The addition of item i) is a straightforward application of Theorem 4.5, combined with Proposition 5.12.

Proof. The implication $i) \implies ii$) is Proposition 5.12. We now prove that $ii) \implies i$). Suppose M is birational to $S^{[n]}$. Let $u = (1, 0, 1 - n) \in \mathbb{N}(S)$, so that $S^{[n]} \simeq M(u)$. Then the divisibility of v in $\mathbb{N}(S)$ is equal to the divisibility of u = (1, 0, 1 - n) in $\mathbb{N}(S)$ by Proposition 5.11, hence M is a fine moduli space by Corollary 4.6. The equality of the divisibilities of v and u is also an easy consequence of the Birational Torelli Theorem, and does not depend on the existence of a primitive embedding $U \subset \mathbb{N}S(S)$. Indeed, by Theorem 5.10, if M and $S^{[n]}$ are birational, there is a Hodge isometry $\phi : \tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z}) \simeq \tilde{H}(S,\mathbb{Z})$ which satisfies $\phi(u) = \pm v$. Since ϕ is an isometry, the divisibilities of u and v are equal.

The implication $iii) \implies ii$ is [Bec22, Proposition 9.9]. The converse, $ii) \implies iii$, is [Hal21].

As an immediate consequence of Theorem 5.13, we obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 5.14. There exist moduli spaces of sheaves M and M', on the same K3 surface, for which there is a Hodge isometry $T(M) \simeq T(M')$, but which are not derived equivalent.

For $d \in \mathbb{Z}$, let $v_d = (0, H, d + 1 - g)$, where $H \subset S$ is a smooth, irreducible curve on a (not necessarily elliptic) K3 surface S, and assume H is primitive in NS(S), and $H^2 = 2g - 2 \ge 2$. We write

$$a_d \coloneqq a_{v_d} = \frac{v_d}{\operatorname{div}(v_d)}$$

for the Căldăraru class of v_d .

Lemma 5.15. We have

$$a_d = \frac{H}{\operatorname{div}(v_d)} \in A_{\mathcal{N}(S)}.$$

In particular, for $e \in \mathbb{Z}$, we have $a_d = a_e$ if and only if $\operatorname{div}(v_d) = \operatorname{div}(v_e)$.

Proof. By definition,

$$a_d = \frac{1}{\operatorname{div}(v_d)}(0, H, d+1-g) = \frac{H}{\operatorname{div}(v_d)} + (0, 0, \frac{d+1-g}{\operatorname{div}(v_d)})$$

The result follows from the fact that $\operatorname{div}(v_d)$ divides d + 1 - g.

Theorem 5.16. Let S be a K3 surface for which there exists an embedding $U \subset NS(S)$. Let $H \subset S$ be a smooth irreducible curve with $H^2 = 2g - 2$ and with primitive class in NS(S). Let $d, e \in \mathbb{Z}$. Then the following are equivalent:

26

REFERENCES

- i) $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d$ is birational to $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^e$.
- ii) The obstruction classes of $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d$ and $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^e$ have the same order.
- iii) The Mukai vectors of $\overrightarrow{\text{Pic}}^d$ and $\overrightarrow{\text{Pic}}^e$ have the same divisibility. More precisely, we have $\gcd(\operatorname{div}(H), d+1-g) = \gcd(\operatorname{div}(H), e+1-g).$

Proof. Note that $gcd(div(H), d + 1 - g) = div(v_d)$ for all $d \in \mathbb{Z}$. The equivalence ii) $\iff iii$) follows from the fact that the order of α_d is equal to $div(v_d)$ for all $d \in \mathbb{Z}$ by Theorem 4.5.

By Proposition 5.11, $\overline{\text{Pic}}^d$ and $\overline{\text{Pic}}^e$ are birational if and only if there exists a Hodge isometry $\psi: T(S) \simeq T(S)$ such that $\overline{\psi}(\omega_d) = \omega_e$. In this case, the orders of ω_d and ω_e in $A_{T(S)}$ are equal. Since the order of ω_d equals the order of a_d , which is $\operatorname{div}(v_d)$, this means that $\operatorname{div}(v_d) = \operatorname{div}(v_e)$.

Conversely, if $\operatorname{div}(v_d) = \operatorname{div}(v_e)$, then $a_d = a_e$ by Lemma 5.15, and $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d$ and $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^e$ are birational by Proposition 5.11.

Remark 5.17. Theorem 5.16 provides many examples of birational Beauville–Mukai systems $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d$ and $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^e$ whose generic fibres are not isomorphic as $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^0_\eta$ -torsors. Indeed, let $D \subset \operatorname{NS}(S)$ be a primitive divisor with $\operatorname{div}(D) > 1$, and let $L \in \operatorname{NS}(S)$ be any ample divisor. Let m be a large multiple of $\operatorname{div}(D)$. Then the general member H of the complete linear system |mL + D| is a smooth and irreducible curve, and $\operatorname{div}(H) = k \operatorname{div}(D)$ for some $k \geq 1$. Moreover, we may assume H is primitive, possibly after dividing by a divisor of k. For any $d, e \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $\gcd(\operatorname{div}(H), d+1-g) = \gcd(\operatorname{div}(H), e+1-g)$, but such that $d \not\equiv e \pmod{\operatorname{div}(H)}$, the Beauville–Mukai systems Pic^d and Pic^e are birational by Theorem 5.16, but their generic fibres are not isomorphic $\operatorname{Pic}^0_\eta$ -torsors by Remark 5.3.

References

- [ADM16] N. Addington, W. Donovan, and C. Meachan. "Moduli spaces of torsion sheaves on K3 surfaces and derived equivalences". In: *Journal of the London Mathematical Society* 93.3 (2016), pp. 846–865.
- [AR23] A. Abasheva and V. Rogov. Shafarevich-Tate groups of holomorphic Lagrangian fibrations. 2023. arXiv: 2112.10921 [math.AG].
- [Bea83] A. Beauville. "Variétés Kähleriennes dont la première classe de Chern est nulle". In: Journal of Differential Geometry 18 (1983), pp. 755–782.
- [Bec22] T. Beckmann. Derived categories of hyper-Kähler manifolds: extended Mukai vector and integral structure. 2022. arXiv: 2103.13382 [math.AG].
- [BM14a] A. Bayer and E. Macrì. "MMP for moduli of sheaves on K3s via wall-crossing: nef and movable cones, Lagrangian fibrations". In: *Inventiones Mathematicae* (2014), pp. 505–590.
- [BM14b] A. Bayer and E. Macrì. "Projectivity and birational geometry of Bridgeland moduli spaces". In: *Journal of the American Mathematical Society* 27.3 (2014), pp. 707–752.
- [Bog96] F. Bogomolov. "On the Cohomology Ring of a Simple Hyperkähler Manifold (On the Results of Verbitsky)." In: Geometric and functional analysis 6.4 (1996), pp. 612– 618.
- [BPV12] W. Barth, C. Peters, and A. van de Ven. Compact Complex Surfaces. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge / A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2012. ISBN: 9783642967542.

REFERENCES

[Bri08]	T. Bridgeland. "Stability conditions on K3 surfaces". In: <i>Duke Mathematical Journal</i> 141.2 (2008).
[Căl00]	A. Căldăraru. Derived Categories of Twisted Sheaves on Calabi-Yau Manifolds. Cor- nell University, May, 2000.
[Căl02]	A. Căldăraru. "Nonfine moduli spaces of sheaves on K3 surface". In: <i>International Mathematics Research Notices</i> 2002.20 (2002), pp. 1027–1056.
[Cal03]	A. Caldararu. "The Mukai pairing, I: the Hochschild structure". In: arXiv preprint math/0308079 (2003).
[CS21]	J. Colliot-Thélène and A. Skorobogatov. <i>The Brauer–Grothendieck Group</i> . Ergeb- nisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge / A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics. Springer International Publishing 2021. ISBN: 9783030742485
[CW10]	A. Caldararu and S. Willerton. "The Mukai pairing. I. A categorical approach". In: New York J. Math 16 (2010), pp. 61–98.
[Dol95]	I. Dolgachev. "Mirror symmetry for lattice polarized K3 surfaces". In: Journal of Mathematical Sciences 81 (1995), pp. 2599–2630.
[DP08]	R. Donagi and T. Pantev. <i>Torus fibrations, gerbes, and duality</i> . American Mathematical Soc., 2008.
[Fuj87]	A. Fujiki. "On the de Rham cohomology group of a compact Kähler symplectic manifold". In: <i>Algebraic geometry, Sendai, 1985.</i> Vol. 10. Mathematical Society of Japan, 1987, pp. 105–166.
[GH96]	L. Göttsche and D. Huybrechts. "Hodge number of moduli spaces of stable bundles on K3 surfaces". In: <i>International Journal of Mathematics</i> 7.3 (1996), pp. 359–372.
[GHS07]	V. A. Gritsenko, K. Hulek, and G. K. Sankaran. "The Kodaira dimension of the moduli of K3 surfaces". In: <i>Inventiones Mathematicae</i> 169.3 (May 2007), pp. 519–567.
[Göt02]	L. Göttsche. "Hilbert schemes of points on surfaces". In: <i>Proceedings of the Interna-</i> <i>tional Congress of Mathematicians (Beijing, 2002)</i> 2 (2002), pp. 483–494.
[Gro68]	A. Grothendieck. "Le groupe de Brauer. I. Algèbres d'Azumaya et interprétations diverses". In: <i>Dix exposés sur la cohomologie des schémas</i> . Vol. 3. Adv. Stud. Pure Math. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1968, pp. 46–66.
[Hal21]	D. Halpern-Leistner. Derived Θ -stratifications and the D-equivalence conjecture. 2021. arXiv: 2010.01127 [math.AG].
[HL10]	D. Huybrechts and M. Lehn. <i>The Geometry of Moduli Spaces of Sheaves.</i> 2nd ed. Cambridge Mathematical Library. Cambridge University Press, 2010.
[HM23]	D. Huybrechts and D. Mattei. <i>The special Brauer group and twisted Picard varieties</i> . 2023. arXiv: 2310.04032 [math.AG].
[Hos+02]	S. Hosono, B. H. Lian, K. Oguiso, and S. Yau. "Fourier-Mukai number of a K3 surface". In: <i>CRM Workshop on Algebraic Structures and Moduli Spaces</i> . Feb. 2002. arXiv: math/0202014.
[Huy06]	D. Huybrechts. <i>Fourier-Mukai Transforms in Algebraic Geometry</i> . Oxford Mathematical Monographs. Clarendon Press, 2006. ISBN: 9780199296866.
[Huy16]	D. Huybrechts. <i>Lectures on K3 surfaces</i> . Cambridge University Press, 2016.
[KK24]	G. Kapustka and M. Kapustka. Constructions of derived equivalent hyper-Kähler fourfolds. 2024. arXiv: 2312.14543 [math.AG].

28

REFERENCES

- [Mar07] E. Markman. "Integral generators for the cohomology ring of moduli spaces of sheaves over Poisson surfaces". In: Advances in Mathematics 208 (Jan. 2007), pp. 622– 646.
- [Mar11] E. Markman. "A survey of Torelli and monodromy results for holomorphic-symplectic varieties". In: Complex and Differential Geometry. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2011, pp. 257–322. ISBN: 978-3-642-20300-8.
- [Mar14] E. Markman. "Lagrangian Fibrations of Holomorphic-Symplectic Varieties of K3[n]-Type". In: Algebraic and Complex Geometry. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2014, pp. 241–283.
- [MP23] G. Mongardi and G. Pacienza. "Density of Noether–Lefschetz loci of polarized irreducible holomorphic symplectic varieties and applications". In: Kyoto Journal of Mathematics 63.4 (2023), pp. 749–781.
- [MS24] R. Meinsma and E. Shinder. "Derived Equivalence for Elliptic K3 Surfaces and Jacobians". In: *International Mathematics Research Notices* (Apr. 2024), rnae061. ISSN: 1073-7928.
- [Muk87] S. Mukai. "On the moduli space of bundles on K3 surfaces. I. Vector bundles on algebraic varieties (Bombay, 1984), 341–413, Tata Inst". In: *Fund. Res. Stud. Math* 11 (1987).
- [Nik80] V. V. Nikulin. "Integral symmetric bilinear forms and some of their applications". In: Mathematics of the USSR-Izvestiya 14.1 (Feb. 1980), pp. 103–167.
- [OGr97] K. O'Grady. "The weight-two Hodge structure of moduli spaces of sheaves on a K3 surface". In: Journal of Algebraic Geometry 6 (1997), pp. 599–644.
- [Orl03] D. O. Orlov. "Derived categories of coherent sheaves and equivalences between them". In: *Russian Mathematical Surveys* 58.3 (June 2003), pp. 511–591.
- [PR23] B. Piroddi and A. Ríos Ortiz. On the transcendental lattices of Hyperkähler manifolds. 2023. arXiv: 2308.12869 [math.AG].
- [Rap08] A. Rapagnetta. "On the Beauville form of the known irreducible symplectic varieties". In: Mathematische Annalen 340 (2008), pp. 77–95.
- [Yos01] K. Yoshioka. "Moduli spaces of stable sheaves on abelian surfaces". In: Mathematische Annalen 321 (Dec. 2001), pp. 817–884.

Mathematisches Institut & Hausdorff Center for Mathematics, Universität Bonn, Endenicher Allee $60,\ 53115$ Bonn, Germany.

Email address: dmattei@math.uni-bonn.de

School of Mathematics and Statistics, University of Sheffield, Hounsfield Road, S3 7RH, UK, and Hausdorff Center for Mathematics, Universität Bonn, Endenicher Allee 60, 53115 Bonn, Germany.

Email address: r.r.meinsma@gmail.com